

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Small Construction Business Owners' Strategies to Reduce Voluntary Employee Turnover.

Joel Chagadama Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Joel Chagadama

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Dina Samora, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Shanker Menon, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Mohamad Hammoud, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Small Construction Business Owners' Strategies to Reduce Voluntary Employee

Turnover

by

Joel Chagadama

MS, Strayer University, 2013

BS, Strayer University, 2015

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2022

Abstract

Voluntary employee turnover has caused considerable damage to small construction businesses, significantly affecting productivity, profitability, and sustainability. Small construction business owners who lack strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover may lose experience and valuable knowledge among their employees, negatively impacting the team's ability to perform. Grounded in the job embeddedness theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover. Participants were four successful small construction business owners in Virginia who successfully implemented strategies that reduced voluntary employee turnover by 75% over 5 years. Data were collected from company documents and semistructured interviews and analyzed using Yin's five-phase analysis technique. The three themes that emerged were effective human resource management, favorable working conditions, and employee engagement. A key recommendation for small construction business owners is to incorporate a competitive enumeration strategy. The implications for positive social change include the potential to encourage employees to participate in volunteering in local communities' infrastructure development.

Small Construction Business Owners' Strategies to Reduce Voluntary Employee

Turnover

by

Joel Chagadama

MS, Strayer University, 2015

BS, Strayer University, 2013

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to God, the Omnipotent, for granting me good health, strength, and patients to navigate through this doctoral journey. To my late father, Standrick Chagadama, finally, we have done it. Thank you for pushing me to make education a priority in life; thank you for inspiring me to take up the challenge. To my mother, Joyce Chagadama, thank you for your love, support, and prayers. Finally, I dedicate this study to my wife, Tsitsi, and my children, Allan, Alvin, and Joyce, for sacrificing our companionship and allowing me the time to pursue this doctoral program. Thank you for all your support and encouragement.

Acknowledgments

I would not have achieved this feat but for God's blessings. I thank Him for making it possible for me to undertake this project. I acknowledge my wife, Tsitsi, and children, Allan, Alvin, Joyce, and my mom Joyce Chagadama for being my source of strength, support, and inspiration. Thank you.

I acknowledge my chairperson, Dr. Dina Samora, for her encouragement, support, guidance, and feedback. Thank you, Dr. Samora, for your mentorship. Also, I acknowledge my second committee member, Dr. Shanker Menon, University Research Reviewer Dr. Mohamad S. Hammoud, and Program Director, Dr. Gail Miles. Thank you for your support and guidance.

I am grateful to the study participants for accepting to take their time to share their experiences and expertise and for helping to contribute to the body of knowledge on measures for addressing voluntary employee turnover issues. Also, many thanks to my brother and business partner, Dr. Desire Luamba, for all the support and encouragement. Finally, I wish to thank friends and family members for their support and prayers.

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contribution to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	8
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
	Literature Review Search and Organization	. 10
	Application to the Applied Business Problem	. 11
	Critical Analysis and Synthesis of Job Embeddedness Theory	. 12

Supporting Theory of Leadership	17
Employee Retention	21
Human Resources Role and Mission	23
Employee Engagement	29
Employee Turnover	31
Organizational Commitment	35
Work Environment	41
Construction Industry	45
Retention Strategies in Construction Industry	48
Transition	52
Section 2: The Project	53
Purpose Statement	53
Role of the Researcher	54
Participants	55
Research Method and Design	57
Research Method	57
Research Design	59
Population and Sampling	61
Ethical Research	63
Data Collection Instruments	65
Data Collection Technique	66
Data Organization Technique	68

Data Analysis	69
Reliability and Validity	71
Reliability	71
Validity	73
Transition and Summary	74
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	75
Introduction	75
Presentation of the Findings	76
Theme 1: Effective Human Resource Management	76
Theme 2: Working Conditions	87
Theme 3: Employee Engagement	92
Links to the Conceptual Framework	95
Applications to Professional Practice	96
Implications for Social Change	96
Recommendations for Action	97
Recommendations for Further Research	98
Reflections	99
Conclusion	100
References	102
Appendix A: Interview Questions	166
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	167

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Sources	11
Table 2. Effective Human Resource Management	77
Table 3. Working Conditions	87
Table 4. Employee Engagement	92

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

In the United States, small construction business owners contribute positively to economic development. However, many small construction business owners or managers lack strategies to retain their skilled employees, negatively affecting productivity and profitability. According to Al-Mamun and Hasan (2017), voluntary employee turnover negatively affects productivity and profitability in the construction industry. Therefore, small construction business owners should understand the implications of voluntary employee turnover and its direct effects on organizational functionality and sustainability.

Background of the Problem

The construction industry is the backbone of the U.S. economy and a significant contributor to the U.S. gross domestic product (GDP; Small Business Administration [SBA], 2018). In 2018, small construction business owners employed over 7 million employees and contributed over \$1,231 billion to the GDP (Ahmadi & Shahandashti, 2017; Azeez et al., 2019; Gornig et al., 2020). Moreover, small construction companies are the main contributors to the economy and job creators, with at least 66% of new jobs added each year (SBA, 2018). However, small construction business owners need strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover because of massive competition in the job market and maintain a competitive standing and advantage.

Having a stable workforce is necessary for small construction business owners to operate efficiently and effectively (Alsharif et al., 2020). Hur et al. (2019) stated that voluntary employee turnover in small construction businesses is among the highest of all industries, resulting in revenue loss. Childs et al. (2017) and Moon (2017) echoed that

high voluntary employee turnover adversely impacts the overall business performance. Porter and Rigby (2020) also asserted that retaining a quality employee is more efficient than recruiting, replacing, or training employees. Therefore, reducing voluntary employee turnover remains strategic for small construction owners to maintain skilled, motivated, and devoted employees to increase profits and promote growth (Manoela et al., 2016). It is also imperative that small construction business owners consider adopting strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover to maintain efficiency and competitiveness in the market (Porter & Rigby, 2020).

Problem Statement

The voluntary turnover rate in small construction businesses is among the highest of all industries, resulting in lost revenues (Ayodele et al., 2020; Nawaz-Khan et al., 2020; Perrenoud, 2020). The construction industry's total turnover rate was 64.8% in 2019, adversely affecting business productivity and performance (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2020). The general business problem was that voluntary employee turnover in small construction businesses hinders operations and unit performance. The specific business problem was that some small construction business owners lack strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover to improve production and sustainability.

Purpose Statement

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore strategies small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover. The targeted population consisted of four owners from four small construction businesses in Virginia who have successfully implemented strategies that reduced

voluntary employee turnover by 75% over 5 years. This study's results may contribute to positive social change by providing small business owners strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover, support job stability, increase income from profitable businesses, and improve family relationships. In addition, having a stable job and income may increase individual satisfaction and motivation, encouraging participation in volunteering in local communities' infrastructure development.

Nature of the Study

The three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed (Yin, 2019). Researchers use the qualitative method to explore phenomena (Ghauri et al., 2020). I chose the qualitative method because I identified and explored practical business strategies from participants who lived or experienced the phenomenon. Researchers use the quantitative method to test hypotheses to characterize and analyze relationships among variables (Annansingh & Howell, 2016). Finally, the mixed method combines qualitative and quantitative methods (J. Park & Park, 2016). The quantitative and mixed methods were inappropriate because I did not test hypotheses to analyze variables' relationships to employee turnover.

The principal qualitative designs include (a) case study, (b) phenomenology, (c) ethnography, and (d) narrative (Yin, 2019). The case study design allows researchers to explore a single phenomenon bound in time (Yin, 2019). I chose a multiple case study design because it provided an in-depth exploration and comparison of strategies to reduce turnover from two or more organizations. Researchers use phenomenology to explore

participants' personal lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994). The phenomenological design was not appropriate because I did not examine the meanings of participants' personal lived experiences. Researchers use ethnographic designs to explore participants' cultures, behavior, or beliefs (Templeton, 2016). Because exploration of the participants' culture was not a goal of this study, ethnography was not appropriate. Narrative design is used to explore individuals' personal life experiences (Saunders et al., 2019). However, this study's purpose was not to focus on narrating participants' life stories, so the narrative design would not have been suitable. I, therefore, used a qualitative multiple case study for this study.

Research Question

What strategies do small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover?

Interview Questions

- 1. How did you develop your strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover?
- 2. What strategies have been the most effective in reducing voluntary employee turnover?
- 3. What strategies have been the least effective in reducing voluntary employee turnover?
- 4. How did your organization address the critical challenges of implementing strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover?
- 5. How did your employees respond to your strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover?

6. What additional information would you like to share regarding the strategies you use to reduce voluntary employee turnover?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework of this study was the job embeddedness theory.

Mitchell et al. (2001) were the first to introduce job embeddedness theory to explain an employee's decision to stay on the job. According to Mitchell et al., the key tenets of job embeddedness theory are (a) links, (b) fits, and (c) sacrifices. Young et al. (2013) further expanded on this theory by arguing that (a) links may be extended to teams or groups, (b) fits may be perceived as the feeling of comfort that employees have within the organization and community, and (c) sacrifices may refer to materials and psychological benefits that an employee may lose upon voluntary termination. Business leaders' strategies to increase fits, links, and perceptions of sacrifice for improved job embeddedness are crucial to aligning followers in their job position, preventing employee turnover (T. W. Lee et al., 2018). I chose the job embeddedness theory because it provided critical tenants to identify and explore strategies small construction business owners need to reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Operational Definitions

The definitions of operational terms presented within the study reference professional and scholarly sources. The purpose of a definition section is to clarify and avoid misinterpretation of the terms used in this study. No unique words were used in this study.

Employee retention: Employee retention is the effort provided by employers to positively encourage their employees to remain in the company for a maximum time (Pattnaik & Panda, 2020).

Employee turnover: Employee turnover is the loss over time of employees caused by resignations, layoffs, retirements, deaths, or terminations (Y. Zhang, 2016).

Job embeddedness: Job embeddedness is an assemblage of social, spiritual, fiscal, and ecological forces that lead to employee retention (Charlier et al., 2016).

Job satisfaction: Job satisfaction is the impact of job quality and nature on employees' personal feelings and lives (Hur et al., 2019; Kurniawaty et al., 2019).

Organizational commitment: Organizational commitment is the degree of loyalty and support that an employee extends toward the organization they belong to (Amdan et al., 2016).

Work environment: Work environment is a professional setting established by an employer that promotes employee retention and job satisfaction (Setiyanto & Natalia, 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are factors researchers may not control or verify during the research processes (Foss & Hallberg, 2014). Foss and Hallberg (2014) also argued that researchers need to determine the assumptions of the researcher's proper understanding of the study. This study included two assumptions. The first assumption was that the selected small construction business owners would answer interview questions truthfully. The second

assumption was that participants' responses would relate to strategies that would help reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Limitations

Limitations are potential weaknesses based on obstructive conditions outside the researcher's control (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Yin (2019) argued that researchers need to limit their research study because research limitations may affect the findings' interpretation and results. The first limitation of the study was that the responses might not reflect the actual views of all small construction business owners in the United States. The second limitation was that some participants might not be honest or have complete information regarding strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover. As limitations can influence interpretations and results of the steady, researchers should keep them in mind when generalizing and transferring results to larger construction companies and other geographical locations (Nagy et al., 2020). Transferring results to large construction companies or other areas might be difficult due to different cultural backgrounds and overall work conditions.

Delimitations

Gutiérrez et al. (2016) defined delimitations as those elements of a study that set restrictions and establish a perimeter of the scope of the research. Yin (2019) added that researchers must describe the circumstances that may affect research methodology and data analysis to prevent any data analysis. The delimitations of this study were (a) using job embeddedness theory to find strategies to reduce voluntary turnover, (b) using openended interview questions to collect information from a sample size of four participants

who have more than 5 years of business experience, and (c) including only participants who were small construction business owners of companies located in Virginia. Yin (2019) argued that finding an appropriate research theory and using open interview questions with a sample size of five participants may help reach data saturation and respond to the research question.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

This study's findings may be of value to small construction business owners who encounter business challenges such as labor shortages, cost overruns, and reducing voluntary employee turnover for achieving and maintaining high productivity and profitability (Hunt & Hayward, 2018). Choy and Kamoche (2021) stated that reducing employee turnover may increase employee motivation, self-esteem, and skillsets. This study might help small construction business owners improve effective strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover, thereby reducing costs and increasing key business processes' performance.

Implications for Social Change

Lueg and Radlach (2016) argued that promoting a positive social change is beneficial to the employees, family members, and local communities. Agbionu et al. (2018) echoed that enabling employee retention may ensure a long career for employees, job protection, and social well-being. This study's results might contribute to positive social change by providing small business owners strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover, support job stability, increase income from profitable businesses, and

improve family relationships. Motivated construction employees could provide their expertise to volunteer in local communities' programs by improving infrastructures such as schools, hospitals, and roads.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

A review of the professional and academic literature reflects and amalgamates information collected from several pieces of literature or scholarly sources related to the research topic (Filia et al., 2018; Spilker et al., 2020). Given the high rate of employee turnover and the rapid market expansion in the construction industry, small construction business owners need efficient strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover or promote employee retention to increase productivity (Haque et al., 2019). This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore strategies small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover.

In the following literature review, I explore the conceptual framework of job embeddedness theory and the supporting leadership theory to reduce voluntary employee turnover in the construction industry. I also analyze and explore the concepts of job satisfaction, employee retention, human resources management, the role of the construction industry, employee engagement, job satisfaction, employee turnover, organization commitment, and work environment in the current business context. Ferreira et al. (2017) stated that business managers must promote job satisfaction, and employee engagement, and mitigate employee turnover to sustain their business. Aseervatham (2021) and Mora et al. (2020) echoed that employees in the organization are the primary production source. Mora et al. also asserted that business managers need efficient human

resources management system to promote organizational commitment, work environment, and employee retention. Horvathova and Mokrisova (2020) added that as competition affects business productivity and competitiveness, managers may encourage leadership strategy and human resource management practices by developing hiring or training programs that are attractive to prospective or current employees to reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Literature Review Search and Organization

The sources for the literature were peer-reviewed journal articles, governmental sources, and books. The literature review included scholarly sources from Walden University databases, Pro-Quest Central, Academic Search Complete, Science Direct, and Google Scholar. Maynard et al. (2014) argued that using a searching strategy is critical for academic researchers to retrieve previous published scholarly works related to a research topic. I used specific filter keywords related to the construction industry and small business activities to select and collect my search strategy sources. The primary search keyword strings were *small construction businesses in Virginia*, *business strategies in the construction industry*, *employee motivation and engagement*, *employee turnover and retention*, *job embeddedness theory*, *leadership theory*, *small business strategies*, *human resources management system*, *small business success*, *and growth*, and *workforce productivity*.

Moreover, I also used the keywords *small construction business annual financial* reports, marketing strategy in the construction business, and social responsibility in *small organizations* to collect additional relevant sources for the research. The literature

review included 246 references, of which 242 were peer-reviewed, and 98% of the peer-reviewed references were within 5 years of publication from 2017 to 2021. Table 1 depicts the statistics of references for the literature review. To analyze strategies that small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover, I explored the following themes: (a) critical analysis and synthesis of job embeddedness theory, (b) supporting theory of leadership, (c) job satisfaction, (d) employee retention, (e) human resources management and practices, (f) employee engagement, (g) employee turnover, (h) construction industry, and (i) retention strategies in the construction industry. The literature review also included small business growth, longevity, and failure articles.

Table 1

Literature Review Sources

Group	Total
No. of references	246
No. of references published within the last 5 years (2018-2022)	226
No. of peer-reviewed references	242
No. of peer-reviewed references within the last 5 years (2018-2022)	237
% of peer-reviewed references published within the last 5 years (2018-2022)	98

Application to the Applied Business Problem

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore strategies small successful construction leaders or managers use to reduce voluntary employee turnover in their

organizations. Ferreira et al. (2017) argued that managers who recruit qualified and motivated employees have the chance to reduce voluntary employee turnover and reach the company's goal with success. Rahman (2020) echoed that construction business leaders' capability and efficiency to reduce employee turnover might expand new opportunities to increase production and generate additional profits. This study's findings might provide strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover by retaining motivated and skilled employees in the construction industry and remaining competitive in the local market. Moreover, small construction business owners need to improve human resource practices to overcome hiring challenges in the construction industry and promote social programs that may reduce voluntary employee turnover. Mölders et al. (2019) stated that managers' ineffectiveness in leading employees might affect employees' retention and company performance. The implications for positive social change included the potential for small construction business owners to promote employees' self-worth and financial stability, benefiting local communities from taxes generated through income revenue.

Critical Analysis and Synthesis of Job Embeddedness Theory

The conceptual framework of this study was the job embeddedness theory. Mitchell et al. (2001) introduced this theory and argued that connection, position, and sacrifice are the primary factors that justify employee retention. Per Mitchell et al., the relations between individuals or ties between individuals and activities, alignment of an individual's perception of an organization, and the sacrifice employees offer to an organization are the foundation of the job embeddedness theory. Young et al. (2013) used a regression analysis to study employee retention among U.S. extension agents in two

states to implement employee retention in an organization. Young et al. found a strong relationship between job embeddedness, intent to stay, discretionary effort, job satisfaction, employee engagement, and organizational commitment. Therefore, job embeddedness theory is one of the managerial tools that business leaders need to understand and apply to promote employee motivation to stay in the organization and eventually lead to employee retention (Mitchell & Lee, 2001).

Job embeddedness theory encompasses internal and external factors that motivate employees to stay in the organization. Using a time-lagged method to analyze the impacts of job embeddedness on ostracism in Chinese workplaces, Lyu and Zhu (2019) found that the workplace may be an external cause of ostracism because it can undermine affective commitment and induce the intention to leave. Therefore, per Lyu and Zhu, business leaders need to safeguard against ostracism, which leads to low organizational performance. Furthermore, Lyu and Zhu highlighted the need for business managers to measure job performance and accurately link to specific employee rewards to promote employee retention. Therefore, small construction business owners might explore the benefits of job embeddedness to implement effective strategies to retain devoted employees for high performance, especially in the current business environment where competition is increasing because of globalization (Lyu & Zhu, 2019).

Job embeddedness theory includes three factors: (a) links, (b) fits, and (c) sacrifices. Mitchell et al. (2001) stated that employee retention results from combining these factors. Per Mitchell et al., links signify the relationships between employees and their organization. Additionally, links may be related to the organization or the

community where an employee belongs and may have developed social, psychological, or financial aspects (Mitchell et al., 2001). On the contrary, failure to promote significant work relationships between employees and employers could lead to higher employee turnover (Zimmerman et al., 2020). Also, Zimmerman et al. (2020) acknowledged that links between individuals in an organization could cause some pressure from family or team members at work.

Mitchell et al. (2001) described fit as reflecting employees' feelings aligned with the organizational culture and environment. Mitchell and Lee (2001) also described fit in an organization as an employee's perception of an organization and its environment where they feel comfortable working. According to Zimmerman et al. (2020), employee personal values, career goals, and plans must fit the organizational culture and job demands. The tangible cases of fit include abilities, skills, and knowledge to do the job effectively. Furthermore, Mitchell and Lee opined that employees quickly assimilate when their skills and abilities match the job demand. Therefore, business leaders need to recruit productive employees and assign them tasks that align with employees' capabilities to minimize voluntary employee turnover (Faisal et al., 2020).

Finally, Zimmerman et al. (2020) described sacrifices as the perception of material costs or psychological benefits that an employee may lose if they quit an organization. Mitchell et al. (2001) added that sacrifices are some materials and benefits or losses an employee would experience once they leave the organization. For example, the more employees would have to give up in terms of perks such as daycare, the company's vehicle, health insurance, or a loss of exciting projects due to job changes, the

less likely they are to decide to leave an organization (Lyu & Zhu, 2019; Vardaman et al., 2020). Furthermore, leaving an attractive, safe community where one is revered or respected can be challenging. Therefore, understanding the tenets of job embeddedness was crucial to minimizing voluntary employee turnover.

Conversely, Faisal et al. (2020) argued that off-the-job embeddedness stemmed from non-work factors that bound an employee to a specific community and made it difficult to leave their present employment. Leaving the current job means relocating to a different location and missing out on the valued community-specific benefits (Faisal et al., 2020). These non-work factors encompass elements aligned with an employee's desired lifestyle within the community (Moshood et al., 2021). Link factors can also be related to an employee's intimate ties to the community (Mitchell et al., 2001). Finally, Finally, the sacrifice aspects are related to apparent costs or losses that emanate from an employee's desire to voluntarily terminate his or her employment (Faisal et al., 2020; Moshood et al., 2021).

Some business leaders fail to reach peak performance within their companies because of a lack of strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover. Using job embeddedness theory can enhance performance and employee retention (Faisal et al., 2020). In an empirical study analyzing the influence of employee satisfaction, motivation, and retention on the performance of small and medium women-owned enterprises, Kiende et al. (2019) argued that business owners might reduce voluntary turnover by improving employee satisfaction. Bilan et al. (2020) echoed that it is paramount to retain skilled employees to minimize employee hiring and training costs, thereby reducing

operational costs to reach organizational goals. However, finding new strategies to retain qualified employees may be challenging (Lyu & Zhu, 2019). Small construction business owners might use job embeddedness theory to promote incentives and strategies necessary to mitigate or reduce voluntary employee turnover.

The job embeddedness theory encompasses various additional aspects supporting business development and employee retention. According to Mitchell et al. (2001), the job embeddedness theory might provide business leaders with tools to reduce voluntary employee turnover, improve business profitability by promoting employee longevity, and enhance productivity. Likewise, Singh et al. (2016) used an empirical study to analyze the impact of skilled employees on business. They found that employee retention and business longevity improve productivity by implementing attractive employee rewards. Chopra (2019) opined that organizations need effective strategies to maintain a satisfied workforce crucial for high productivity. With these strategies in place, business managers may remain competitive in the market. In addition, some researchers have suggested that leaders who retain motivated, passionate, and qualified employees may be more likely to achieve organizational goals and sustain long-term business productivity (Sumbal et al., 2020; Zeffane et al., 2017).

Small business leaders may use many other theories to promote their businesses. However, small construction business owners may utilize the job embeddedness theory as a primary factor to sustain long-term profits (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Thus, the job embeddedness theory was a valuable strategic managerial tool that small construction business owners may use to reduce operation costs by reducing voluntary employee

turnover. In addition, using job embeddedness would provide small construction business owners with a set of managerial tools that will be useful in preventing skilled employees from quitting their organizations.

Supporting Theory of Leadership

Managers or leaders of small construction businesses may explore the benefits of leadership theory to increase employee motivation and reduce turnover. Unlike the job embeddedness theory, which focuses more on retention and why employees remain at their present job, leadership theory focuses on how managers can improve their skills to effectively lead employees to reach maximum organizational benefits (Al-Malki & Juan, 2018; Mitchell et al., 2001). In addition, some researchers have used job embeddedness theory to analyze the factors that influence employees' decisions to remain or stay with an organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). As a result, job embeddedness provided a solid theoretical framework for this study, while small business owners may also use leadership theories as a supporting framework for increasing organization benefit (Bass, 1990; Tung, 2016).

Small construction business owners should build a strong, cohesive team and provide direction to achieve organizational objectives. Creating, maintaining, and ensuring a team's success requires effective leadership (Bass, 1990). Furthermore, Arnold (2017) argued that effective leadership is crucial to improving employee motivation and retention. Arnold also asserted that effective leadership is critical to motivating employees to reach organizational goals. For instance, utilizing a suitable leadership style in the construction industry is crucial to improving employee

performance and reducing voluntary employee turnover. Similarly, Bass (1990) opined that using leadership styles such as transactional or transformational leadership increases organizational value. Bass added that transactional leadership should be an alternative to building a strong relationship between employees and employers by establishing substantial mutual benefits and increasing mutual trust, which may be beneficial for reducing voluntary employee turnover.

Similarly, Hansen and Pihl-Thingvad (2019) used transformational and transactional leadership to analyze the implementation of an ambitious innovation strategy in a large Danish municipality. In their analysis, Hansen and Pihl-Thingvad found that innovative behavior is most often displayed when the leader combines transformational leadership with rewards. Building on Hansen and Pihl-Thingvad's findings, Sun and Wang (2017) used structural equation modeling to explore how transformational leadership influences employees' intentions to quit. Their findings indicated that transformational leadership is critical in reducing voluntary turnover and cultivating a collaborative culture. Therefore, construction leaders may use the tenets of transactional leadership theory to reward and motivate employees who desire to remain or stay in the organization.

In addition, transactional leadership is critical for leaders to assess employees' work or production. According to Matthews (2018), business leaders also promote a positive change in employee behaviors and attitudes using transactional leadership theory. Similarly, Tung (2016) analyzed the impact of transactional leadership on 50 electronic companies in China and found that high productivity was relayed on employee

motivation and job satisfaction. For instance, the transactional leadership style could help improve sales and increase profits by offering employees incentives such as bonuses or premiums. Hence, leaders use transformational and transactional leadership to meet organizational goals. In addition, small construction business leaders might use transactional leadership to motivate employees in the workplace and promote a positive mutual exchange between employees and employers.

On the other hand, small business leaders or managers can also use transformational leadership to improve employee motivation and job performance. Transformational leadership's primary purpose is to provide a real vision of the company's mission and goals (Arnold, 2017; Bass, 1990; Matthews, 2018; Rao, 2017). Using a time-lagged research design, Afsar and Masood (2018) collected data from 322 nurses and their supervisors in public sector hospitals. They examined the managers' transformational leadership skills and how they affected innovative work behaviors. Afsor and Masood found that the transformational leadership style had the most substantial positive relationship with innovative work behavior when there was trust between supervisors and followers.

Similarly, Ng and Rivera (2018) claimed that transformational leadership is critical for managers seeking to stimulate employee performance and reach the organization's mission. Leaders who understand the role, nature, and impact of leadership in organizations have a better chance to improve employee engagement and motivation, workforce productivity, and job satisfaction (Matthews, 2018; Ng & Rivera, 2018; Rao, 2017). Small construction business owners could implement the tenets of

transformational leadership to improve employee engagement and workforce productivity which are crucial for reducing voluntary employee turnover.

Additionally, business owners might rely on ethical concepts or moral guidelines to sustain their leadership strategy to reduce voluntary employee turnover. Stanak (2019) defined ethics as standards that employers establish and use in compliance with organizational policies and governmental laws to promote corporate values. Ethical value also relates to a company's culture and help foster a strong relationship between employers and employees. Ethical behavior is essential in promoting positive behaviors that may reduce voluntary employee turnover (Mulki & Lassk, 2019). Jobin et al. (2019) agreed that enforcing ethical values builds trust among all stakeholders and increases employees' desire to belong to the organization.

Furthermore, Barnes et al. (2020) opined that a lack of effective leadership leads to unethical behaviors such as excessive absenteeism, significantly impacting productivity. Ho and Oladinrin (2019) conducted semi-structured interviews with employees in different construction companies in Hong Kong to examine organizational practices regarding construction companies' codes of ethics and leadership. Ho and Oladinrin found that ethical leadership in conjunction with unbiased reward schemes, employee training, and responsiveness was crucial to increasing motivation and satisfaction in the workplace. In addition, promoting ethical leadership is essential to mitigating negative attitudes in the workplace and improving employee desire to stay in the organization. Ho and Oladinrin's analysis referred to leadership and ethical value that led to job satisfaction and employee retention.

In short, an effective leadership style is paramount to promoting employee engagement and job satisfaction. Khuwaja et al. (2020) stated that servant leaders must have psychological and emotional attitudes that motivate employees. Huertas-Valdivia et al. (2019) used Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) with data from 340 employees in Spanish hotels to investigate how different leadership styles can maximize hospitality. The researchers found that leadership promotes psychological empowerment and motivation. Similarly, Maurya and Sharma (2017) opined that business leaders might have managerial skills that support employee motivation and job satisfaction. Therefore, it is paramount that small construction business owners recognize and understand the role and impact of leadership on business. Bass (1990) came to a similar conclusion, stating that leadership adds value to any organization by promoting employee self-actualization and well-being. Based on the tenets of job embeddedness, exploring the benefits of leadership theory may increase employee engagement and satisfaction and ultimately reduce voluntary turnover (Huertas-Valdivia et al., 2019).

Employee Retention

Gilani and Cunningham (2017) described employee retention as a strategy employers may use to reduce voluntary turnover. In addition, Vardaman et al. (2020) conducted a study of 207 nurses working in the surgical medical unit of a major U.S. metropolitan hospital and confirmed that there is a correlation between employee retention and turnover. Similarly, Yamin (2020) used structural equation modeling analysis (SEM) to investigate motivational and environmental factors and their effects on employee retention and organizational performance. Per Yamin, there is a positive

relationship between employee retention and organizational performance. Small construction business owners may explore the positive effects of the relationship between employee retention and organizational performance to reduce voluntary employee turnover and ensure organizational success.

According to Gilani and Cunningham (2017), small construction business owners need to utilize employee retention as a business skill to encourage employees to continue contributing to meet organizational goals. Yumnam and Singh (2019) echoed that managers should inspire followers to remain proactive and assume ownership roles in employee retention. In addition, employee retention is imperative because it increases employee confidence and minimizes production costs (Keller et al., 2020; Modau et al., 2018; Rodrigues et al., 2020). Therefore, it is strategic for small construction business owners to mitigate voluntary employee turnover by retaining motivated and devoted employees.

Managers implementing an employee retention strategy to reduce voluntary employee turnover must focus on all organizational structures. Yumnam and Singh (2019) used a survey to analyze the significant retention factors in private life insurance companies in Manipura. Strategies to increase employee retention depend on the company's nature and activity. For example, employee assignments may last for many months or years in the construction industry. Because of this, managers should focus on implementing job satisfaction strategies to retain motivated employees and reduce turnover for a period that will last the project (Coetzer et al., 2017; Hunt & Hayward, 2018; Hur et al., 2019). Yumnam and Singh added that organization leaders should be to

determine the factors that empower employees to execute their duties correctly, create a sense of ownership and belongingness, and influence employees to remain proactive

Similarly, Coetzer et al. (2017) collected data from 549 employees in four major South African businesses using a short form of the original questionnaire to examine the relationship between job embeddedness and turnover intentions. The researchers found that influential business leaders can promote good relationships between employers and employees by recognizing performers, treating all employees equally, and creating an enjoyable work environment. Furthermore, Agusramadani and Amalia (2018) opined that greater employee involvement in every aspect of the organization leads to higher retention. The essential purpose of these strategies is to increase employee satisfaction, boost employee morale, create growth opportunities, and achieve retention (Giri et al., 2019; Hunt & Hayward., 2018). Therefore, small construction business leaders need to know employee retention strategies to plan for long-term success.

Human Resources Role and Mission

Human resource managers play a critical role in employee management. Sumbal et al. (2020) argued that to reach the peak of organizational performance, active human resource managers should analyze the economic, environmental, social, and human factors at all levels of business activities. Santhanam et al. (2021) echoed that active human resource managers should be employees' motivators for reaching a company's mission. Matthews (2018) added that business managers or leaders could evaluate organizational performance by assessing business operations through employee engagement, motivation, and retention. Comparatively, Vorina et al. (2017) used

statistical analysis to examine the results of a survey of 549 respondents and explored the role of human resources in Slovenian organizations. In their conclusion, Vorina et al. found a strong relationship between employee engagement and job satisfaction. They also suggested that real managers may use human resource management to promote a company's performance by assessing factors such as absenteeism, time off, vacation time, or conflict management. Active managers might also enable, for example, ethical standards and knowledge of the company's policies to promote organization values and reduce turnover (Kör et al., 2021).

Furthermore, Fabling and Grimes (2014) used a panel of more than 1500 New Zealand firms to analyze the impact of human resource professionals on organizational performance. Fabling and Grimes found that active human resource managers should have a managerial role and strategic mission to meet organizational goals, such as increasing productivity by hiring experienced employees. Likewise, Maier and Brem (2018) concluded that active human resource managers should be innovators and have a creative spirit by establishing programs and activities that meet employee expectations. Many researchers analyzed the role of human resource management and its impact on business performance. They concluded that effective human resource managers need to focus on improving training and social advantages such as paid time off (PTO) to reduce employee turnover (Chiat & Panatik, 2019; Matthews, 2018; Vorina et al., 2017). For instance, Hurrell and Keiser (2020) suggested that human resource managers use competitive remuneration to increase employee retention. To sum up, small construction business owners might improve the effectiveness of human resource practices by

improving training programs, internship practices, and PTO perks to ultimately mitigate employee turnover and increase performance.

Training Practices

Training and internship are convenient practices that increase employee motivation and organizational productivity. Chopra (2019) argued that increasing employee skills and knowledge also increase employee ability to innovate and resolve technical issues related to high production, thereby cultivating a favorable work environment. Likewise, Link and Müller (2015) used a qualitative case study to analyze the retail industry's tensions between employees and employers. In their analysis, Link and Müller found that organization leaders or managers can use training strategies to develop or implement human resource practices, increasing employee motivation and reducing voluntary employee turnover. Likewise, Stewart and Brown (2019) added that promoting employee training leads to building new skills that lead to creativity and efficiency, which may be beneficial for retaining employees.

Human Resource Management

Human resource managers have the mission to implement and develop programs, services, and policies that contribute to achieving business goals (Roscoe et al., 2019). For example, Barrena-Martínez et al. (2019) conducted a conceptual analysis based on a literature review, corporate social responsibility reports, and a global reporting initiative. They found that human resource managers may align the needs of workers with the company's goals. Newman et al. (2020) added that employees who align with the company's goals are likely to be proactive. According to Barrena-Martínez et al.,

employees who accept and believe in the company's goals are more likely to commit their future to the organization. Similarly, Bui et al. (2017) used fit theory to analyze the relationship between transformational leadership and employees' work engagement. Per Bui et al., the fit theory enables human resource managers to effectively align competency and performance activities by recruiting qualified employees through plans that fit their needs.

Ahmad et al. (2015) used a multiple regression analysis to examine the relationship between human resource performance and work engagement in Pakistanian large banks. In their conclusion, Ahmad et al. found that when workers have a good perception and the accessibility of their organizational human resources, they are more engaged and attached to the organization. Similarly, Seifert et al. (2016) conducted a study to determine how workplace fairness affects employee commitment. The researchers concluded that when managers treat their employees fairly, they have a high organizational obligation (Caesens et al., 2017; De Sousa Sabbagha et al., 2018; Eliyana & Ma'arif, 2019). Albrecht and Marty (2020) also examined the influence of job resources, such as training and development, on work engagement and found that job development increased when training resources increased over time. Therefore, a professional value-driven by human resources in the 21st century should have the essential human resource competencies to reduce employee turnover and enhance employee engagement and retention.

Wong and Giessner (2018) added that human resource managers might use job embeddedness and leadership theories to promote positive behaviors and attitudes within

the organization. Besides job effectiveness and knowledge, Bui et al. added that effective human resource managers need to have the ability, authority, and capacity to influence job performance. In addition, some researchers have argued that human resource managers need to possess innovative, technological, entrepreneurial, and employee relation skills to reflect the company's positive image to its stakeholders (Albrecht & Marty, 2020; O. Park et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020). Furthermore, human resource managers in the construction industry may rely on job embeddedness tenets to promote positive attitudes that will positively affect employees' motivation and reduce voluntary turnover (Huning et al., 2020; K. Pang & Lu, 2018; Scanlan & Still, 2019).

Human Resource and PTO

Human resource managers use PTO to balance employee work-life and improve employee productivity, satisfaction, and retention (Hurrell & Keiser, 2020; N. Li et al., 2019; Toropova et al., 2021). Per Hurrell and Keiser (2020), PTO is significant for managers, especially in the current business context where competition is strife.

Moreover, Das (2021) added that benefit such as PTO is also crucial to attracting skilled workers for organizational sustainability. Using signaling theory to analyze the impact of PTO on employee attractiveness, Smith et al. (2019) found that PTO practices significantly enhanced employees' motivation and led to a reduction in voluntary employee turnover. According to Hurrell and Keiser (2020), a generous PTO policy makes employees feel valued and positively enhances their personal views of the organization and its leaders. In support, Cesário and Chambel (2017) conducted an empirical study based on the work engagement scale, commitment scale, and employee

performance to analyze the development of adequate and challenging work conditions in an organization. The authors found that employers who provide benefits such as PTO and promote employee motivation can improve employee retention. For these reasons, O. Park et al. (2019) urge small construction organizations' human resource managers to utilize employees' PTO policies to increase employee motivation and reduce voluntary turnover.

Likewise, having a precise, concise, and generous time off policy allows human resource managers to manage and plan absenteeism to reduce costs associated with unplanned absences (Loan, 2020; Omar et al., 2020; Tarvid, 2015). Johnson et al. (2018) used an empirical study to examine trends, causes, implications, and interventions in burnout and healthcare staff's well-being in mental health services. In their conclusion, Johnson et al. found that the implementation of PTO was critical to building a robust relationship between employers and employees and reducing turnover. Additionally, Breevaart and Bakker (2018) argued that social benefits such as PTO or paid leave might be a significant employment benefit that ultimately leads to high productivity and turnover reduction. Furthermore, employees become more committed to their work when they feel that their managers care for their personal needs (Gopinath, 2020; Hurrell & Keiser, 2020; Sembiring et al., 2020). Based on job embeddedness theory, construction human resource managers might reduce voluntary employee turnover by adopting the PTO program strategy.

Employee Engagement

Employee engagement can influence employee intention to leave (Rahman, 2020). For example, a cross-sectional empirical study conducted by Sandhya and Sulphey (2020) on 392 Indian professional technology companies revealed a positive relationship between employee engagement and voluntary turnover. In addition, a study conducted by Putri and Setianan (2019) confirmed a moderate relationship between employee engagement and organizational commitment, and the intention to quit the job. Putri and Setianan suggested that managers link organizational commitment with employee intention to quit their job (D. Pang & Ruch, 2019; Rai & Maheshwari, 2020; Sembiring et al., 2020; Waller, 2020). In contrast, Bilal et al. (2019) argued that disengaged employees might leave the organization because they are likely to seek employment elsewhere. Therefore, creating a highly engaged workforce is critical to increasing employee retention and reducing turnover (Bilal et al., 2019; Monroe et al., 2020; Paoline III & Gau, 2020).

Similarly, Carleton et al. (2018) used transformational leadership theory to analyze how to create a positive work environment to increase employee engagement and motivation. Carleton et al. found that employee engagement resulted from managers' leadership style that promotes employees' social benefits. Similarly, Gould-Werth et al. (2018) conducted 50 semistructured interviews with a convenience sample of human resources professionals in 14 Arkansas-based employers to analyze the impact of retaining employees with disabilities in the healthcare industry. In their analysis, Gould-Werth et al. found that retaining skilled and motivated employees with a disability was

critical to increasing employee value, enhancing the corporate image, and reducing voluntary employee turnover. Furthermore, small construction business owners might increase social benefits to increase employee engagement and reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Moreover, employers need to offer compensations that meet employees' needs to increase employee retention. Lockwood (2007) conducted a survey of 50,000 workers in 27 countries to analyze the relationship between employee engagement, business achievement, and employee turnover. Per Lockwood, a positive relationship between employee achievement and turnover retention leads to high organizational performance. Kim (2017) and Harris and Ellis (2018) added that engaged workers are positively involved in their jobs, respectful of their coworkers, looking to improve others' work efficacy, improve work-related skills, and committed to highly active exhibit in-extra-role performance. For example, employees who call off or take time off from work with or without notice negatively affect the productivity and morale of other employees (Kurniawaty et al., 2019; Pires, 2018; Williamson & Perumal, 2021).

Similarly, several researchers have revealed that employee engagement is a significant predictor of employee retention (Kim, 2017; Lockwood, 2007; Omari et al., 2019). According to Omari et al., highly engaged employees are loyal and attached to organizations and lower employee turnover. Furthermore, Omari et al. confirmed that greater levels of employee engagement would lead to lower levels of absenteeism that may affect other employees' morale and increase their desire to remain in the organization, which may reduce voluntary turnover intention. Xiong and Wen (2020)

conducted a survey of 227 participants from two central retail banks in China. The results showed that turnover intention and work engagement significantly correlated with organizational citizenship behavior and counterproductive work behavior. Moreover, Xiong and Wen indicated that work engagement is also the place where employers should have strategies to mitigate counterproductive work behaviors. Business managers may promote employee engagement during economically challenging times to reduce voluntary employee turnover (Gould-Werth et al., 2018; Ju & Li, 2019).

In addition, Akhmetshin et al. (2019) stated that employee engagement could help companies withstand, survive, and thrive in turbulent economic times. Dhir and Shukla (2018) analyzed the differences in performance between engaged and disengaged employees and found that managers who used employee engagement strategies have the chance to double their production. Correspondingly, Harter et al. (2002) conducted a meta-analysis of 7,939 business units in 36 companies to analyze employee engagement. They found that companies with motivated and engaged employees improved customer satisfaction and business productivity, affecting employee turnover. In the construction industry, employees sometimes work overtime, so promoting a positive, safe, and vibrant workplace is paramount to enhancing employee satisfaction, employee engagement, and retention (Abdul Azeez, 2017; Ashton, 2018; Harmon et al., 2018).

Employee Turnover

High voluntary employee turnover is undesirable for any organization and a significant business concern for managers (Frederiksen, 2017; T. W. Lee et al., 2018; W. Wu et al., 2017). Furthermore, employee turnover adversely affects production customer

service and increases workloads. Several studies have shown that employee turnover negatively impacts organizational well-being, image, and reputation (Ali Suba'a Al-sadi & Khan, 2018; Hom et al., 2017; Kang & Sung, 2019). Mkamwa (2020) added that employee turnover adversely impacts organizational sustainability and viability.

Employees' decisions to voluntarily terminate their employment with an organization vary based on each employee's circumstances. Commonly cited reasons for voluntary turnover include the availability of alternative employment opportunities, job satisfaction levels, interpersonal conflict, a sterile work environment, work-life balance challenges, or other personal reasons (Franklin et al., 2019; Jabbar et al., 2020; T. W. Lee et al., 2018). Thus, a high rate of voluntary employee turnover in any organization leads to many adverse outcomes.

Effective managers should analyze and investigate why they quit when many employees leave an organization. Asimah (2018) used a cross-sectional logic survey to examine factors influencing employee turnover in the hospitality industry. Asimah suggested that effective managers should provide appropriate remuneration policies, better working conditions, good communication between the management team and employees, and training opportunities. Per Asimah, managers may also know how to plan and assess their relationships with employees to retain them in the organization. An (2019) opined that losing employees with unique skillsets is like losing a company's capital. Bilan et al. (2020) echoed that turnover could affect an organization's prosperity and competitiveness regardless of its classification. Dutta and Khatri (2017) and Guest (2017) also added that it takes time to get the replacement hire up to the same

productivity level as the previous employee. Therefore, losing efficient employees might be costly for the organization.

Employee turnover can be voluntary or involuntary (Al-Mamun & Hasan, 2017; An, 2019; Madariaga et al., 2018). The critical distinction between the two types of employee turnover lies in who initiates the process. Shaw et al. (1998) used organization-level data to analyze the effects of employee turnover on organizations. They concluded that good human resource management practices help prevent voluntary employee turnover. Per Shaw et al., voluntary employee turnover is an employee's decision to terminate his employment relationship, whereas involuntary turnover results from an employer's decision to terminate an employee's contract. Scott et al. (2021) added that an employee could leave his job for lack of required skills. Yildiz (2018) echoed that business managers may use their leadership skills to stop the undesirable turnover of employees for business performance, which affects the loss of production capital. It is paramount for small construction business owners to understand the impacts of high voluntary employee turnover on production costs in the small construction industry.

Voluntary Turnover

Voluntary turnover is when employees leave an organization upon their initiatives (Fu et al., 2020; Harris & Ellis, 2018; Toropova et al., 2021). Haar and White (2013) analyzed the effects of strategic entrepreneurship and its impacts on employee turnover and employee retention. They concluded that voluntary turnover might arise from many reasons such as relocation for job opportunities, retirement planning, and family or other social issues. Saks (2019) added that voluntary employee turnover is predictable and may

have many consequences on employees and employers. For instance, an employee who voluntarily leaves a company may suffer if the new job does not offer what he expected and damages his morale (Davies et al., 2018; Saks, 2019). Shepherd et al. (2020) echoed that voluntary employee turnover may negatively affect customer service because it may take time for a new employee to function at the same level as the replaced employee. Harden et al. (2018) found that managers have a crucial mission to implement effective managerial business strategies to predict employee turnover. Small construction business owners might also use their business experience to implement critical strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Cost of Employee Turnover

Employee turnover may have tremendous consequences on the company and may negatively impact the financial wealth of the organization. Cumming et al. (2016) analyzed countervailing factors that incite more significant investment in the cleantech venture and found that economic, legal, or institutional variables are determinant factors that influence the cost of employee turnover. Per Cumming et al., effective managers should assess and analyze employee turnover costs that could negatively impact the company's financial wealth. According to Hur et al. (2019), turnover can directly impact productivity, affect morale, and undermine the mission and vision of the organization.

Hom et al. (2017) examined seminal publications and practical methods on employee turnover. They found that employee turnover harms business productivity and sustainability as it inflicts high direct and indirect costs. Johnson (2020) found that the cost of replacing an employee can increase by 250%. Hopkins and McKay (2019) added

that improving working conditions may reduce hazards and accidents, impacting production costs. Small construction business owners should be aware of all the potential costs related to voluntary turnover because it may affect the company's financial wealth.

The cost related to employee departure from the company differs depending on each employee's skills and expertise (Ling et al., 2018; Osborne & Hammoud, 2017; Sang et al., 2019). For example, Ernst et al. (2019) analyzed the aging nursing workforce in the government service providers. They argued that the cost of turnover could profoundly affect profits and earnings as production costs might increase due to waste and slow production. Chenoweth and Lapkin (2018) added that organization managers often have challenges finding employee replacements that suitably match their exemployee qualifications and experience. Therefore, managers should fully understand what it takes to cover the less apparent costs of hiring and training new employees while acclimating (Ramlawati et al., 2021). However, according to Massingham (2018), business owners run into substantial losses of money, loss of productivity, and other intangible resources when high-performing employees leave the organization. That is why small construction business owners need to implement many strategies to retain skilled employees because any increased labor shortage affects productivity (Assaad & El-Adaway, 2020; Ma & Fu, 2020; Matongolo et al., 2018).

Organizational Commitment

Mitchell et al. (2001) used the job embeddedness theory to analyze the relationship between the organization and its employees. According to Mitchell et al., job embeddedness theory highlights a range of on-the-job factors influencing an employee to

stay employed in an organization. Afsar et al. (2018) referred to job embeddedness as an anti-withdrawal construct used to understand why employees remain employed.

Furthermore, Kooij and Boon (2017) confirmed that researchers of job embeddedness theory are always primarily interested in investigating the factors that organizations can control. Moreover, gathered evidence from empirical studies and meta-analytic analysis reveals that job embeddedness effectively forecasts job outcomes (Jehanzeb, & Mohanty, 2018; Jung & Yoon, 2017; Kundu & Lata, 2017), such as task and contextual performance (Mitchell et al., 2001).

Assessing organizational commitment is critical to understanding how employees feel about their jobs, organizations, and intentions to stay in the organization. Kennedy and Daim (2010) used survey methods to gauge employees' attitudes and opinions toward their company in the high-tech industry. They found that managers should be proactive and use creativity to promote organizational commitment as it positively affects employee decisions to stay in the organization. In addition, Kennedy and Daim argued that managers might use organizational commitment as a predictive managerial tool to mitigate turnover and promote employee retention. Similarly, Jehanzeb and Mohanty (2018) highlighted the need for small construction business owners to consider using other promotional strategies that enhance organizational commitment as a tool to retain their valuable employees.

Kundu and Lata (2017) argued that committed employees are unlikely to seek employment elsewhere. Therefore, managers may consider analyzing organizational commitment similarly to employee engagement to motivate employees to increase

performance. Many researchers have found that employees who are rigidly attached to their organization are unlikely to leave (Imamoglu et al., 2019; Oyewobi et al., 2019; Van & Nafukho, 2019). Naz et al. (2019) used a stratified sampling technique and partial least square method to investigate the relationship between employees and organizational commitment. According to Naz et al., organizational commitment attracted scholars because of its impact on employees and the functionality of an organization. An empirical study conducted by Ramalho-Luz et al. (2018) further confirmed the relationship between organizational commitment and employee turnover. Ramalho-Luz et al.'s study findings revealed that normative and affective commitment, pay, promotions, and the work nature correlates significantly with turnover intention. Following the same rationale, Aktar and Pangil (2018) examined the mediating role of organizational commitment among banking employees. They also identified organizational commitment as a significant predictor of employee engagement. Per Shibiti (2019), employee engagement is crucial in the construction industry to align all employees in the general organizational plan. Imamoglu et al. (2019) and I. D. Zhang et al. (2020) opined that employees' commitment is crucial for an organization's success. Based on job embeddedness theory, small construction business owners may use organizational commitment to reflect emotional attachment and feeling of their employee obligations to promote positive attitudes, which is crucial for organizational success (Aktar & Pangil, 2018; Ramalho-Luz et al., 2018; Van & Nafukho, 2019)

An organizational commitment must create a strong, mutually beneficial between employees and employers (Al-Jabari & Ghazzawi, 2019; Pattnaik & Panda, 2020;

Sheehan et al., 2019). Mowday et al. (1979) used the organizational commitment questionnaire (OCQ) method to analyze employee commitment to the organization's workplaces. Using a series of studies analyses conducted on 2,563 employees in nine different organizations, Mowday et al. found that organizational commitment strengthens employees' attachment to their organizations. Similarly, Mbhele (2017) and Cooper-Thomas et al. (2018) added that organizational commitment is a psychological force that promotes positive or relevant actions to strengthen employee commitment to organizational goals and values. Dixon-Fowler et al. (2020) echoed that increasing organizational commitment leads to the pursuit of efficient organization activities and employees' willingness to remain actively part of the organization. In addition, employees with high organizational commitment are far less likely to engage in absenteeism and are likely productive, reducing turnover (Al-Sada et al., (2017).

Moreover, Mousa et al. (2019) stated that a positive productivity outcome arises from the organizational commitment of desirable employees who have work experience and like their job. Obedgiu (2017) conducted a general review of human resources' historical evolution and professional development. According to Obedgui et al., human resource managers should focus on transactional work such as improving payroll and social benefits while implementing company consolidation and technology to increase organizational commitment. Company consolidation is crucial for efficiency, supporting quality performance, decreasing absenteeism, and ultimately reducing turnover.

Similarly, Van and Nafukho (2019) used a sample of frontier employees to analyze the relationship between job and organization commitment. They found a significant positive

association between employee engagement with organizational commitment. Several scholars have also confirmed that organizational commitment positively impacts voluntary employee turnover (Grego-Planer, 2019; Hutagalung & Adawiyah, 2019; Salminen & Miettinen, 2019). Employees who express a commitment to their organizations may possess an optimistic perspective and may be willing to stay, which is crucial to employee retention and reducing turnover (Eisenberger et al., 2019; Salminen & Miettinen, 2019; Shareef & Atan, 2019).

On the other hand, Michalak and Ashkanasy (2020) posited that the reward system, effective leadership, and organization's capability to conjure commitment might be challenging to reduce voluntary employee turnover. Webster and Smith (2019) used self-determination theory to analyze personality and psychological traits that mitigate negative behaviors. Based on a sample of 97 workgroups comprised of 298 employees, Webster and Smith found that organizational commitment is an attitudinal matter that enables employees to cultivate and establish a psychological bond with the organization. Furthermore, Webster and Smith argued that committed employees are devoted and involved in attaining organizational mission and goals. Ahmad et al. (2019) added that employees leave their jobs because they lack organizational commitment. Similarly, Shareef and Atan (2019) opined that organizational commitment contributes to the influence of a stable workforce and improvement of employee motivation. Therefore, small construction managers might use organizational commitment as a managerial tool to influence an employee's motivation and reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Furthermore, an organization's success or failure is closely related to its ability to retain its valued employees and keep them committed to its vision. Murray and Holmes (2021) suggested using an empowerment strategy to encourage retention to increase employee commitment. Shao and Ariss (2020) investigated knowledge transfer between self-initiated expatriates (SIEs) and their employers. Based on the existing literature on expatriation and knowledge transfer, Shao and Ariss found that employees' motivation is often the product of their commitment to their jobs or careers. Per Shao and Ariss, engaged employees are highly committed to their organizations and would be crucial to the overall organizational performance by giving the firm an essential competitive advantage.

Similarly, Stoyanova and Iliev (2017) analyzed employee engagement and company performance in Bulgarian business organizations. They found that the level of employee engagement with the organization's goal, mission, and commitment is specific to an employee's career or profession and can significantly reduce turnover and impact its success. C. M. Wu and Chen (2018) added that managers might use their leadership skills to promote organizational commitment and reduce turnover. For this reason, Van and Nafukho (2019) opined that in small construction companies where unemployment is deficient and managers face tremendous challenges in retaining skilled employees, construction leaders need to develop effective strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Work Environment

Improving the work environment is crucial for reducing voluntary employee turnover. Setiyanto and Natalia (2017) argued that the work environment is vital in reducing turnover because of its effect on employees' decisions or desire to leave or stay in the organization. Hopkins and McKay (2019) used an explorative study to examine employees' working arrangements and commuting habits from Melbourne's largest city-based firms in Australia. Based on their analysis, Hopkins and McKay found that managers may use organizational policies, attitudes, transportation, and benefits to improve the employee work environment, performance, recognition, and retention. Setiyanto and Natalia (2017) added that the work environment might be physical or nonphysical. They described the workplace's physical environment that can affect employees directly or indirectly, such as lighting, air temperature, space for movement, security, cleanliness, and music.

Heryanto (2019) described a nonphysical work environment as everything related to work relations, such as superiors, coworkers, or subordinates. When an organization provides a good working environment that fosters supervisor and coworker cooperation, employees will feel that the organization and its members care about them and feel morally obligated to return the care by increasing their emotional attachment. Norman and Sjetne (2017) added that the working environment is essential in determining how employees perceive their organizations. Therefore, based on job embeddedness theory, small construction managers might improve the work environment to promote retention and reduce voluntary employee turnover (Van & Nafukho, 2019).

Moreover, the determination and creation of the right work environment are critical to promoting employee retention. Fallatah et al. (2017) used the structural equation modeling to examine authentic leadership's influence on the turnover rate among new nurses. In their analysis, Fallatah et al. found that an excellent organizational identification and work environment allow employees to be performant, productive, and committed to the organization. Tian and Robertson (2019) added that the work environment affects employee behaviors, especially short or long-term goals. Employers who improve their work environment enhance how employees view their jobs, which, in turn, significantly impact productivity and willingness to stay in the organization. Per Kianto et al., the work environment has a massive impact on employee recognition, happiness, productivity, and retention. A comfortable work environment for employees could increase morale and encourage better performance, ultimately reducing voluntary employee turnover (Naz et al., 2020).

Employee perception of their working environment significantly impacts their attitudes, behaviors, and physical and psychological health. Santosa and Mubarok (2020) used a descriptive methodology of the t-test to analyze the effect of organizational factors, compensation, and work environment on BMT Salam employees' performance. Santosa and Mubarok found that worker's compensation significantly affects employee performance. Santosa and Mubarok also argued that the work environment comprises all aspects that act upon and respond to an employee's body and mind. Al-Maaitah et al. (2018) argued that business managers need to establish the right working environment that supports employees to carry out their duties effectively and adequately to implement

jobs effectively and efficiently. Numerous researchers confirmed that improving the work environment led to higher employee retention (Pires, 2018), reduced voluntary employee turnover (Al-Maaitah et al., 2018; Wan et al., 2018), and higher organizational commitment (Jufri et al., 2018). Creating favorable working conditions that could motivate employees to work will influence the spirit of responsibility in the workplace.

A better working environment is a prerequisite for employees to do their job. A safe, clean, comfortable, favorable, and comfortable working environment can comfort and relax employees (Mariam, 2019; Nursaid et al., 2020; Ramli, 2019). Syamsudirman et al. (2019) used the questionnaire to collect from 162 respondents staff operating in the Fire Department and Rescue of Sungai Penuh City to examine the effect of compensation and work culture on organizational performance. In their analysis, Syamsudirman et al. found that the work environment can affect employee motivation and job satisfaction, reducing voluntary turnover. In the same token, Agbozo et al. (2017) opined that construction employees need a conducive work environment to utilize their knowledge and skills to perform their duties more effectively. Similarly, M. C. Nguyen et al. (2020) added that the right work environment significantly influences employees' attitudes and builds affective commitment. Per Pérez-Rodríguez et al. (2019), the work environment strengthens employees' emotional connection with the organization.

An exemplary work environment significantly influences employee performance (Kurniawan & Heryanto, 2019; Putra et al., 2020; Santosa & Mubarok, 2020). Badrianto and Ekhsan (2020) conducted an empirical study to analyze the relationship between the work environment and job satisfaction in Pakistan's banking, telecommunication, and

universities. Badrianto and Ekhsan found a positive relationship between work environment and job satisfaction. Likewise, Kurdi et al. (2020) echoed that physical and nonphysical work environment significantly affect employee satisfaction and retention. Putra et al. (2020) pointed out that a work environment can positively enhance perceptions, ultimately helping recruit and reduce employee desire to seek employment elsewhere. Therefore, small construction business owners have the mission to provide a safe and comfortable working environment to retain employees and reduce turnover.

Moreover, the physical environment's quality greatly influences an employer's ability to recruit and retain talented people (Onuko & Onyango, 2020). Agbozo et al. (2017) used a questionnaire to examine the work environment's effect on job satisfaction and employee retention in a Ghanaian merchant bank. In their findings, Agbozo et al. attested that the work environment significantly affects employee satisfaction. Per Hammer (2021), managers Managers need to recognize employee recognition by improving working conditions, which may positively impact productivity. Santosa and Mubarok (2020) added that work environments have numerous aspects that influence physical and mental well-being. Likewise, Firmansyah et al. (2020) and Baek et al. (2020) pointed out that uncomfortable work conditions might lead to low performance, high absenteeism, and elevated turnover rates.

In pleasant work environments with competitive wages, a trusting relationship between employees and the owners, equity and fairness, and a sensible workload may lead to achieving the company's goals with success. A composite of all these conditions improves the work environment and promotes high satisfaction (M. C. Nguyen et al.,

2020). Therefore, based on job embeddedness theory, small construction business owners may improve the work environment to increase employee motivation and job satisfaction and reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Construction Industry

Construction activities are primary sources of the development of any country (Hossain & Poon, 2018). Per Hossain and Poon, construction services that include hospitals, schools, offices, townships, roads, bridges, residences, and warehouses generate job opportunities for millions of job seekers. In the United States, construction activities are actively growing each year, making the country the first economic power globally (US Census Bureau, 2018). However, the success of small construction companies depends on the performance of their employees. Employees in the construction industry need to develop skills, motivation to perform their job at a higher level, and effective leadership to induce confidence. Loyal employees are likely to buy into the firm's strategic plans and pledge alliance to the organization for the long term.

The construction industry is a significant contributor to the U.S. economy, providing more than 680,000 employers with over 7 million employees and creating nearly \$1.3 trillion worth of structures each year. Many researchers argued that the retention of skilled employees and increased motivation to belong to the company are fundamental ingredients that lead to profitability (Koontz, 2021; Shaikh et al., 2020). According to Famiyeh et al. (2017), the construction industry provides development, employment, and socioeconomic development opportunities. Pakurár et al. (2019) agreed that construction business activities are continually evolving and increasing each year;

business owners should find an appropriate strategy to increase employee retention to remain viable.

According to Xu et al. (2019), construction companies create employment and generate income for the government through taxes. Using the grey forecasting model to predict managers' vision on potential development, N. T. Nguyen (2020) found that construction services generate income through foreign exchange earnings from the trade of construction materials and engineering services. Despite the construction industry's economic importance, small construction owners found some challenges in meeting job satisfaction, employee motivation, and customers' expectations to reduce employee turnover due to rapid technological advances and globalization impacts (Al Ahbabi et al., 2019; Ali Suba'a Al-sadi, & Khan, 2018). Abyad (2017) used an empirical study to analyze the effect of globalization on small business competition and found that globalization increased managerial challenges among business leaders to compete effectively and sustain their businesses. Per Abyad, business leaders need appropriate business skills and strategies to remain competitive in the market.

Therefore, finding a strategic competitive advantage plan was crucial to promoting business sustainability. Business leaders may consider using the competitive advantage to find and apply a strategic price to attract more customers and increase productivity (Baltzan & Phillips, 2017). Rothman et al. (2017) discussed the mechanism and moderator factors that lead to positive outcomes. They found that flexibility is one of the positive aspects that managers may use to produce high job quality effectively and satisfy customers' needs. Rothman et al. (2017) also argued that the lack of effective

business strategies could lead to business collapse or failure. In Addition, Luo et al. (2015) used resource-based view theories to create and develop more omnichannel innovations. They found that managers' roles and implications in business activities are crucial because they should master all business constraints to produce a desirable outcome. According to Luo et al., improving business processes could promote sustainability and profitability. In compliance with job embeddedness theory, Luo et al.'s arguments are critical for small construction leaders to consider employees as the primary factors of production and strive to enhance their well-being and success.

Gender and age discriminations in the construction industry also have a tangible impact on employee turnover. Moreno (2016) used semistructured interviews to analyze female entrepreneurship's characterization in Usme-Bogota and found that women's productivity was closely related to their roles in organizations or communities. According to Moreno, business leaders who treat employees equally and fairly without gender distinction are likely to increase employee retention and reduce turnover. To echo the finds, Shuang et al. (2019) used the ANOVA test and location tracking technology combined with Building Information Modeling (IBM) to identify and record intrusion behaviors of 147 construction workers over four months. In their analysis, Shuang et al. found that age and gender significantly affect intrusion frequency and duration. Also, Shuang et al. indicated that male workers were more intrusive-prone than females, and middle-aged workers had significantly higher intrusion frequency than younger and older workers. Thus, per Shuang et al., gender and age may influence turnover or reduce voluntary turnover as older workers always want to preserve and secure their work. In

contrast, young workers actively seek new opportunities (Shuang et al., 2019). Therefore, for the success of small construction businesses, it is paramount for business owners or managers to be aware of gender discrimination and comply with job embeddedness and leadership theories to promote employee retention and reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Likewise, work or employment discrimination can also arise from other factors such as race, religion, or national origin. Employment discrimination negatively affects business productivity and longevity. Aqqad et al. (2019) used a regression analysis to analyze the impacts of employment discrimination on job performance. They found that using a strategy such as mediation during an employment conflict is critical for reaching an amicable solution and preventing job discrimination. Similarly, Lamare and Lipsky (2019) used an empirical study to examine the effects of arbitration in discrimination claims. They found that employment discrimination claims differ from arbitration, which is appropriate for resolving anti-discrimination statutes at work. According to Lamare and Lipsky, construction leaders must be aware of mitigating employment conflicts based on religion, race, age, or physical disabilities to create e conducive work environment. Employers or small construction business owners may use job embeddedness theory for mediation, arbitration, or direct negotiation in their daily managerial activities to promote employee retention strategies and reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Retention Strategies in Construction Industry

In small construction business activities, where there is enormous competition, high job demands, and a high rate of voluntary employee turnover, managers should seek

effective strategies to retain devoted and skilled employees. In general, researchers agree that increasing job satisfaction, improving the work environment, creating an employee-centered climate, developing a positive relationship between employees and employers, and increasing compensation were significant in promoting employee retention (Karman, 2020; Rahman, 2020; Salas-Vallina et al., 2021). Finding effective strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover is critical in the small construction industry, yet few researchers have taken action to find those strategies best suited to the construction industry; therefore, this study is needed.

For instance, adapting to change and technological innovation may be strategic to increase retention and mitigate turnover in small construction businesses. However, the small construction business leaders or owners may not know how to adopt change and technology innovation to improve work conditions and reduce voluntary employee turnover. For example, Duong et al. (2021) used the event study method to analyze the relationship between transformational innovation sustainability and stock market reactions for construction companies. In their conclusion, Duong et al. found that the benefits of sustainability innovations in the construction industry may integrate environmental sustainability into strategies for efficient resource allocation, which may also positively impact construction employee retention. Moreover, the researchers found that investing in innovation was crucial for small construction business owners to improve the work environment and business sustainability conditions, which was essential for reducing voluntary employee turnover.

Some researchers who focused their research on construction management indicated that effective strategies for reducing voluntary employee turnover might also be critical to promoting an organization's credibility (Holston-Okae, & Mushi, 2018; Meharunisa, 2019; Tews & Stafford, 2020). Organizational credibility is about how most hiring managers recruit into the workplace (Santosa & Mubarok, 2020). M. T. Nguyen and Khoa (2020) argued that small construction business owners who can maintain high organizational credibility and performance with well-motivated and devoted employees have many chances to succeed. Likewise, Ghasempour-Ganji et al. (2021) added that the effectiveness and efficiency of any organization, including small construction businesses, depend on the empowerment of its human resources, presence of an ethical climate, and use of organizational support to reduce turnover because an employee's decision to remain in the organization relies on corporate credibility to stimulate employee feelings of considerations and respects in the organization.

Specific to small construction business owners, they may create and maintain value in their company by implementing strategies that reduce voluntary employee turnover. In the research conducted by Persad (2020), the author analyzed strategies to retain skilled assistant project managers in the construction companies in New York and found that intrinsic motivation, performance enhancement, and occupational safety were among effective business strategies construction managers should use for reducing voluntary employee turnover. Iqbal et al. (2020) and C. J. Park et al. (2021) echoed that construction business owners should have effective strategies to mitigate voluntary employee turnover because employee turnover leads to substantial economic and

nonmonetary losses such as expertise and experience or knowledge. Furthermore, according to Kryscynski (2021), practical strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover can help small construction business owners improve productivity and, ultimately, their company's bottom line. Improved profits enable the small construction business owners to contribute to their local communities and the economy by donating time, resources, money, and skills to keep employees productive in their local communities (Holston-Okae & Mushi, 2018).

Furthermore, Kasmuri et al. (2020) conducted a systematic literature review of research articles to offer an overview of the present state of turnover antecedents in the construction industry. In their review of 29 construction-related research studies, Kasmuri et al. found that demographic factors, such as age, position, year of services, employee type, personal status, and gender, generated inequality in practice within the construction industry due to claims of the industry as being male-dominated, irregular working hours, and workplace outside and far from home. According to Rastogi et al. (2018) and Meharunisa (2019), high voluntary employee turnover results from a deficiency in voluntary employee turnover reduction strategies. Therefore, small construction business owners should execute a routine evaluation of their business retention strategies, improving their competencies in line with the needs of their employees to improve retention and reduce voluntary employee turnover.

In the literature review, I summarized, compared, and contrasted several sources related to my research topic. Strategies that emerged from the literature review were (a) Leadership styles, (b) job embeddedness, (c) employee retention, (d) human resource

roles and mission, (e) organizational commitment, and (f) work environment (Arnold, 2017; Naz et al., 2020; Rodrigues et al., 2020; Sumbal et al., 2020). This study included exploring similarities between strategies used by small construction business owners in Virginia and the strategies listed above. The results of this study might provide actual successful strategies for small construction business owners in Virginia and provide other small construction business owners with strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Transition

In Section 1, I introduced the background of the research study, problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, research question, and interview questions. I also presented the conceptual framework of job embeddedness theory, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitations of the study, contribution to business practice, implications for social change, and the professional and academic literature review. The literature review provided critical information regarding the conceptual framework of job embeddedness and crucial elements sustaining the role and impact of reducing voluntary employee turnover.

Section 2: The Project

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore strategies some small construction business owners use to reduce their employees' voluntary turnover.

Reducing voluntary employee turnover has become challenging because of the rapid development of construction business activities (SBA, 2016). As the primary researcher and data collection instrument of this study, I used face-to-face interviews to collect data from four small construction business owners who have successfully implemented strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover in their organizations. I also presented a description of material related to the study population. Furthermore, I used methodological triangulation to analyze data, refer to reliability and validity strategies to mitigate bias and comply with ethical standards to protect my data during my research.

Purpose Statement

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore strategies small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover. The targeted population consisted of four owners from four small construction businesses in Virginia who have successfully implemented strategies that reduced voluntary employee turnover by 75% over 5 years. This study's results might contribute to positive social change by providing small business owners strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover, support job stability, increase income from profitable businesses, and improve family relationships. In addition, a stable job and income might increase individual satisfaction and motivation, encouraging participation in volunteering activities in local communities' infrastructure development.

Role of the Researcher

The researcher's qualitative research role is to plan, prepare, design, collect, arrange, analyze, and report the study's findings (Sant, 2019). Williams and Moser (2019) added that qualitative researchers must explore participants' experiences and gather and analyze collected data in an unbiased way to reach their goals. I was the primary researcher responsible for recruiting participants, managing, and presenting the research findings accurately by mitigating research biases. According to Farrugia (2019), qualitative researchers must comply with ethical standards. Researchers must ensure that all participants are safeguarded from undue harm and treated fairly and respectfully. Thurairajah (2019) opined that qualitative researchers are often sensitive to their social identities. Understanding and recognizing personal beliefs and biases would help alleviate biases during and after data collection. I complied with the Belmont Report principles to ensure respect, justice, and the benevolence of participants. Complying with Belmont Report principles is crucial for research credibility (McDermott & Hatemi, 2020). As I openly communicated with participants, I sought voluntary consent free of undue influence or coercion from all my participants. I unequivocally enlightened all participants of any risks and participant rights in the study. I also used member checking to confirm my study's credibility and ensure my data's reliability.

According to Yin (2019), qualitative researchers minimize biases and avoid viewing information through a personal lens. As a small business owner and with knowledge of business principles, my business experience helped me understand the concepts of voluntary employee turnover in the current business context. I am also

familiar with employee retention, having been a chief financial officer for 10 years in the retail industry. For my research credibility, I relied solely on participants' answers. In addition, I used an interview protocol to ensure consistency in my questioning. Billups (2019) defined interview protocol as written guidelines that researchers follow when conducting personal interviews. The interview protocol eliminated my opinions from participants' responses to the interview questions. I crafted the questionnaire using impartial wording to counteract the manipulation of participants' answers. The interview questions (see Appendix A) were relevant to the critical strategies for reducing voluntary employee turnover of small construction companies.

Participants

In qualitative analysis, selecting appropriate participants and collecting data through interview questions are crucial to answering the research question (Johnson et al., 2018). Cooper and Meterko (2019) suggested that participants meet the researcher's criteria to provide essential information and perspectives related to the phenomenon under study. I used the purposive sampling method to identify and select participants for this multiple case study. I used the internet to search Google, companies, and governmental websites for a sample of four small construction business owners located in Virginia who have successfully implemented strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover by 75% over 5 years. A purposive sampling method is a tool used by researchers to identify the population that meets the eligibility criteria (Ames et al., 2019). I selected my participants based on their (a) lived experiences of reducing voluntary employee

turnover, (b) business skills, (c) managerial expertise, and (d) strategies to reduce employee turnover.

Eligibility criteria helped determine appropriate participants for the study (Chondrogiannis et al., 2017). The participants selected for this study were small construction business owners in Virginia who have successfully implemented strategies that reduced voluntary employee turnover by 75% over 5 years. My initial sample included four small construction business owners located in Virginia. I used the internet and Google search engine to gain insight into the companies and the SBA database and official government sources for potential participants. Before reaching out or interacting with participants, I waited until Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved my project.

Thurairajah (2019) argued that researchers must take deliberate actions to cultivate good working relationships with participants. Kalu (2019) echoed that a good relationship with participants or interviewees can foster trust and create mutual respect, which is crucial for collecting reliable information. Stanton et al. (2020) added that obtaining participants' consent before the interview and adhering strictly to the research process is essential to building an effective relationship between the researcher and the participants. I used the informed consent form to highlight the relationship between the researcher and participants by communicating the study's significance, participants' confidentiality, and rights during the research process. I was open and honest regarding the study's research question to establish trust with participants. I was also humble and respectful to all participants without regard to race, gender, ethnicity, or social class. I

sought to interview my participants in their chosen setting and location for their safety and comfort.

Research Method and Design

Research method refers to the strategy or technique that researchers use to conduct their studies (Sileyew, 2019). The research design will provide an appropriate framework for the analysis (Bloomfield & Fisher, 2019). The research method and design provide a blueprint for gathering, analyzing, and interpreting data to respond to the research question. Yin (2019) argued that choosing an appropriate method and design in academic research is strategic to successfully reaching the research goal.

Research Method

For this study, I used a qualitative research method to explore strategies small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover. Yin (2019) stated that it is paramount that researchers select the correct applicable research method when conducting the study to meet the research goal. Researchers use one of three essential research methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Yin, 2019). A qualitative method allows researchers to analyze the phenomenon's human experience using interviews and observations (Annansingh & Howell, 2016; Ghauri et al., 2020; Yin, 2019). For this study, I conducted interviews using semistructured, open-ended interview questions to analyze and review companies' documentation and official sources regarding small business activities. Wilson et al. (2016) opined that using an effective qualitative research method may collect credible data from real individuals who experienced the phenomenon through interviews or observations. According to Hesse-Biber (2016), the

qualitative research method is not based on statistical data but rather on words, images, and text; thus, a qualitative method was appropriate for this study.

The quantitative and mixed methods are also valuable research methods.

Researchers use a quantitative method or approach to test hypotheses based on numeric data (Apuke, 2017; DeBlaere & Hesson-McInnis, 2016; Fassinger & Morrow, 2013).

According to Doody and Bailey (2016), quantitative methods help answer research questions that compare, relate, or describe objective measurements and statistical data about a population sample. Furthermore, researchers utilize the quantitative method to examine hypotheses and apply numerical data to determine the relationship between variables (Allen, 2015; J. Park & Park, 2016). My research question was not comparative, relational, or descriptive; thus, the quantitative method was inappropriate for this study because I did not test hypotheses to analyze voluntary employee turnover.

The mixed method combines qualitative and quantitative methods in the same study (Hansen et al., 2016; J. Park & Park, 2016). Kay and Kucera (2018) stated that a mixed method is a research approach applied when only one quantitative or qualitative approach is not adequate. The mixed method helps measure and determine the relationship or variances among independent and dependent variables (Molina-Arizona, 2016; J. Park & Park, 2016) and explores the human experience in collecting verbal or non-numerical data (Hansen et al., 2016). I did not test the hypothesis or determine correlations or relationships between variables; therefore, the mixed method was unsuitable for my study.

Research Design

The most used designs in a qualitative study are (a) case study, (b) phenomenology, (c) ethnography, and (d) narrative (Yin, 2019). Researchers use the case study design to explore a single phenomenon bound in time (Yin, 2019). I used a multiple case study design because it was appropriate to provide an in-depth exploration of strategies through individuals who lived or experienced voluntary employee turnover and reduced their business activities risks. According to Yin (2019), a multiple case study is appropriate to collect data from two or more participants. Collatto et al. (2018) added that a case study design enables the researcher to comprehend the phenomenon better and is ideal for empirical research studies. My sample consisted of four owners of small construction businesses; therefore, using a multiple case study was the most appropriate option for my study.

The phenomenological research design is another design that researchers use to explore a single phenomenon bound in time (Yin, 2019). This design provides information narrating what is perceived, sensed, and known from people's experiences (Heotis, 2020). Snelgrove (2014) argued that researchers use phenomenology to explore participants' lived experiences' central meaning. Bliss (2016) added that various academic researchers prefer using the phenomenological research design for its convenience. However, the phenomenological design was inappropriate for my study because I did not explore participants' lived experiences or gather information from many participants.

Researchers use the ethnographic design to explore participants' culture, behavior, or beliefs (Templeton, 2016). Ethnographic design requires researchers to focus on the culture within a group's associated environment for an extended period (Draper, 2015). Ethnographic researchers engage themselves in the study to view life through the lens of a business or a social group (Kim, 2017). The primary sources of data collection in the ethnographic design are detailed observations and interviews. According to Bamkin et al. (2016), ethnographic researchers collect data by observing people's environment or socializing to understand the phenomenon analyzed. My study did not explore participants' cultures, behaviors, or beliefs; therefore, the ethnographic design was unsuitable for my research.

A narrative research design is all about collecting and telling participants' stories. Researchers describe individuals' lives in narrative design, collect and tell stories about people's lives, and write narratives of individual experiences (McAlpine, 2016; Mueller, 2019; Poole, 2020). Jeong et al. (2020) stated that narrative design relies on gathering, analyzing, and representing people's stories as told by themselves. Narrative design helps exploratory research projects seek to engage with diverse individuals or groups' experiences and meaning-making processes (McAlpine, 2016). Thus, the researcher interprets the individual's stories instead of a community (Poole, 2020). The narrative design is about collecting and telling a story or stories of participants; thus, the narrative design was unsuitable for this study.

Data saturation was another consideration in choosing a multiple case study design. Data saturation is when no new information or new themes emerges from the

collected data (Saunders et al., 2019; Varpio et al., 2017; Yin, 2019). I conducted semistructured interviews face to face or via the Zoom teleconferencing platform (https://zoom.us/) to ensure data saturation, and no new information or themes emerged. When participant information becomes repetitive and member checking reveals no further information, data saturation must be attained (Fusch et al., 2018). Furthermore, Squires and Dorsen (2018) opined that saturation in qualitative case studies could be achieved with between two and 10 participants. Therefore, a multiple case study design was appropriate in exploring strategies through individuals who lived or experienced voluntary employee turnover and reduced their business activities risks.

Population and Sampling

The population is the broader group of individuals to generalize the study results (Carlsen et al., 2020). According to the SBA (2018), Virginia had 78,513 small construction firms in 2015. This multiple case study population consisted of small construction companies in Virginia, which have been in business for over 5 years. The construction business owners must have demonstrated and implemented effective strategies that reduce voluntary employee turnover. Measurements on the entire population of Virginian small construction companies were complicated, so I used a purposive sampling method to select a representative sample of my total population. The participant's selection should reflect all the whole population's characteristics. However, a well-chosen subset provides most of the information to allow accurate inferences from the population (Jäger et al., 2017).

According to Saunders et al. (2019), there is no predetermined sample size in qualitative studies. Sim et al. (2018) suggested that researchers select a sample size that allows data saturation. Data saturation is when participants can no longer offer new information or themes to the interview questions (Dikko, 2016; Hancock et al., 2016; Tran et al., 2017). As Tran et al. (2017) highlighted, determining data saturation can be problematic as researchers only work with their findings. I recruited four participants; however, adjustments to the sample size may change until I reach data saturation. Once I had collected enough information to reach data saturation, I determined the number of participants. Data saturation is achieved when the responses from new participants start becoming redundant to the data I have already collected (Tran et al., 2017). I knew data saturation was achieved when I repeatedly heard the same answers from participants, and the participants could share no new information.

Moreover, researchers use sampling strategies to select a population sample because, in most cases, it will be costly and time-consuming to study an entire population (Jäger et al., 2017; Mujere, 2016). The sampling strategy is essential to ensure that the selected participants are reliable and reflective of the target population's characteristics (Taherdoost, 2016). I used purposeful sampling to select my participants. Purposeful sampling is crucial to choosing participants who are likely to provide the most valuable information to respond to the research question (Taherdoost, 2016). Elo et al. (2014) suggested that purposeful sampling is suitable for qualitative research because it enables the researcher to gain detailed knowledge about a specific phenomenon. I ensured that all

my participants met the eligibility criteria for this study before any data collection process.

After receiving approval from Walden's IRB (Approval no. 02-11-22-0628049), I contacted the preselected participants via email or phone to verify that they have owned a construction business in Virginia and successfully managed it for over 5 years. I also confirmed that each owner had a proven record of retention of employees and experience avoiding or managing turnover before conducting separate interviews in person or via Zoom. I suggested that participants set the interviews at a quiet and discrete place. I also emailed or sent a hard copy of the invitation letter to those who agreed to participate in the study. I also sent follow-up emails to participants who agreed to participate in the study. Upon participant confirmation, I asked them to sign the informed consent form agreement and return it to recordkeeping. The scheduled interviews were 45 to 60 minutes for each participant. Furthermore, I employed an audio recorder or automatic recording with Zoom to record interviews. Finally, I maintained a journal to record participants' observations and verbal and nonverbal body language.

Ethical Research

Researchers may encounter some challenges during the research process while dealing or interacting with participants (Alase, 2017). Researchers need to comply with the ethical standard for confidentiality and data protection. As stated by Watson et al. (2016), researchers and participants must agree and adhere to the research policies to ensure credibility. As a primary research instrument, I complied with the IRB policies and protected participants' identities by providing secured codes such as P1, P2, P3, and

P4 for each participant. I also prepared the Informed Consent Form to explain each participant's rights and obligations during the research process. Participants signed the Informed Consent Form before conducting the interviews to acknowledge their rights and ensure each participant understood their rights and responsibilities.

I informed all participants that participation is voluntary and is not obligatory. I also explained to participants that there are no incentives to attract them to be part of this study, and they could decide at any time to withdraw from the study without penalty. Moreover, participants who choose to withdraw from the study can notify the researcher via phone, email, or mail. It is not required to provide the reasons for their choices. According to Alase (2017), participants can excuse themselves or refuse to answer questions they deem inappropriate or uncomfortable answering. Any information collected before their withdrawal will be archived and secured on my passworded and secured computer for 5 years. For a potential research audit, documents, memos, notes, reports, and audiotapes collected will be stored in a secure, fireproof safe in my office for 5 years. I informed participants that I might need access to the companies' internal documentation and reports, such as administrative reports and financial statements.

Moreover, I notified participants that their participation in this study was voluntary and that there would not be any participation incentives. Watson et al. (2016) added that participants' motivations might disorient the research and lead to the results' inefficiency. Finally, I informed participants about the benefits of their participation in this study and how they might help drive a positive social change for small construction business owners to sustain jobs and increase performance. The local community members

would also benefit from employees' experience to improve their social life during their long careers.

Data Collection Instruments

Interviews and observations are primary instruments for qualitative data collection (Fletcher et al., 2016; Levitt, 2018). I was the primary data collection instrument for this study and collected data through semistructured six open-ended interview questions. According to Kallio et al. (2016), using semistructured interviews enables the researcher to obtain reliable information and better understand participants' perspectives of the research topic. I referred to the interview protocol (Appendix C) to guide my interview process to collect data. I notified the participant that I would record the interview, which lasted 30 to 45 minutes. After the interview, I followed up with additional questions for clarification and member-checked participants for validation and research credibility. I also analyzed companies' internal documentation and administrative and financial reports to examine the research question, including payrolls and monthly employee turnover reports, employee hiring and training costs, strategic recruitment planning, state and federal employee taxes, and the SBA reports. I also used archival records to harvest data that helped analyze the case study and explore other social issues related to the research topic. Mills (2018) and Mohajan (2018) argued that using various sources and extending the research view is crucial to analyze the research topic better. Vindrola-Padros and Johnson (2020) added that analyzing in-depth administrative, financial, or managerial reports may help explore other hidden causes of firms' sustainability or productivity. For example, a critical review of an organization's

record may provide reliable information regarding short, middle, or long-term employee turnover planning (Yu et al., 2014).

As the primary research instrument, I strictly followed the interview protocols to help mitigate the potential of any personal biases. Jørgensen et al. (2016) acknowledged that interview protocols serve as helpful tools scholars use to keep the interview process organized and focused on the topic (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Following the interview protocol, I started interview sessions by asking open-ended questions to engage participants, establish a rapport, and help participants feel comfortable and relaxed. I also summarized the final transcripts for member checking to ensure the accuracy, validity, credibility, and transferability of data and study.

Data Collection Technique

The central research question that guides this study was what strategies small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover? Tu (2018) asserted that qualitative research aims to gather an in-depth understanding of the fundamental business problem and data richness of the exchange and relationship between researchers and respondents. Therefore, I collected detailed employee information from interviews with small construction business owners who have implemented strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover. In addition, I explored and analyzed in-depth data from archived company records and semistructured interview questions (Appendix A).

DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) posited that in qualitative research, semistructured interview questions are an effective way to collect qualitative data as it

enables researchers to modify and tailor questions to address specific issues. Castillo-Montoya (2016) noted that semistructured questions would allow researchers to ask open-ended questions supplemented by follow-up and probing questions to give participants the freedom to respond as they wish. According to Castillo-Montoya, the semistructured interview process's effectiveness in harvesting data hinges on the researcher's interpersonal and communication skills. The interviewer must build rapport by listening attentively and respectfully to the information shared and engaging participants in a dialogue. I listened attentively and responded with follow-up questions to allow participants to share valuable information and avoid misunderstanding or misinterpretation of the interview questions. Misunderstanding and misconceptions of the interview questions might affect data credibility and reliability. The disadvantage of conducting semistructured interviews could be the time required for participants to engage in the interview process. According to Adams (2015), semistructured interviews are arduous, demanding, and require interviewer sophistication. Another disadvantage can be finding participants with the expertise to answer the research question.

As Moon (2019) pointed out, researchers may improve their research credibility by using multiple sources to collaborate the findings. In addition to collecting data via semistructured interviews, I collected data from archived and current companies' records. Qualitative researchers may also use archived record analysis and observations to collect data (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019; Yin, 2019). I reviewed recruitment material, retention activities, policy manuals, and comprehensive voluntary termination reports to ensure in-depth interviews and encourage participants to respond freely. This practice

helped increase research credibility and avoid biases in data collection processes.

However, company documents might contain sensitive information such as salaries and wages, cost of health care, and PTO information that participants may be reluctant to share. In addition, it may be challenging to determine which document would render the best data.

After completing the initial data collection phase through the voice-recorded device and interview transcripts, I meticulously reviewed the digital transcription to ensure it matched the transcripts and what I recorded. After the transcripts' transcription, I sent the copies of the interview transcripts to the participants for review, correction errors, and confirmation. I also used member checking for participants' validation to improve the validity, accuracy, credibility, and transparency. In addition, member checking will help with the transcript summary review, ensure participant voices and declarations are accurate and improve my study's credibility, validity, and transferability (Birt et al., 2016; Candela, 2019; Moon, 2017). Finally, I confirmed that the synthesis represents participants' responses and any additional information obtained or added through member checking. I also repeated the process until I attained the data saturation point.

Data Organization Technique

Data organization techniques refer to the techniques used to classify, sort, and organize data to make them more useful. Robust data organization techniques are an essential part of the research process as they provide an effective, efficient support system for data analysis. According to Yadav et al. (2021), data organization techniques

provide platforms to store and extract meaningful information to apply in practice. Any data I gathered was securely stored electronically and physically during this research process. I used NVivo to facilitate data management from multiple sources and help with the analysis. I labeled, coded, and categorized data collected from each participant's account. I created a secured code for each participant's file to include transcripts, signed consent forms, and audio files to ensure my data. I securely safeguarded all the handwritten notes and hard copies of information, correspondence, or other sensitive materials that have been part of this research for 5 years. I also used encryption and passwords to safeguard electronic data files. Finally, I would permanently destroy stored files, shred all documents, and wipe clean electronic files after 5 years.

Data Analysis

Qualitative data analysis converts raw data into a message that conveys the researcher's conclusion, interpretation, or understanding of a topic (Lewis, 2015). As highlighted by Yin (2019), data analysis consists of five distinct processes, which are as follows: (a) data compiling, (b) disassembling of data into subsets, (c) reassembling data into patterns/themes, (d) interpreting of the data, and (e) developing of conclusions. In addition, researchers conduct qualitative data analysis to gleam for patterns and make sense of collected the collected information (Casett et al., 2017). I followed the five-step process and employed methodological triangulation to analyze data.

In methodological triangulation, researchers use multiple external sources to validate, challenge, or better unravel the study's processes (Natow, 2020). Candela (2019) agreed and stated that methodological triangulation might help mitigate bias and

the likelihood of misinterpretation of the data. Researchers use multiple sources to explore the various levels and dimensions of a phenomenon (Fusch et al., 2018). I triangulated data from interviews, companies' internal documentation, and official sources. I also used computer software to help manage each of these steps in the process. Additionally, I linked information from the literature review, themes from the interview data, and data collected from company documentation to demonstrate methodological triangulation.

According to Lemon and Hayes (2020), computer software is valuable tool researchers utilize to improve data analysis quality in qualitative research. One of the commonly used software in qualitative research is NVivo. NVivo is also used to code and categorize data according to emerging themes and data similarities. I used NVivo (Version 12) to sort, code, organize and analyze data. Coding consists of creating data categories and listing keywords before cataloging collected information into themes (Vaismoradi & Snelgrove, 2019). Researchers use deductive coding to represent the participants and organizations with predefined codes such as letters and numbers (Davidson & Case, 2018). Deductive or concept-driven coding allows one to take information from various sources and conclude logically (Pearse, 2019). I used NVivo to create codes based on the research question and conceptual framework phrases.

In this study, I performed the following actions: (a) store data on a thumping drive for easy access; (b) devise a distinctive coding scheme; (c) focus on critical themes; (d) connect key themes with my literature review and conceptual framework. I utilized the data-coding feature of NVivo to identify patterns and themes. Reassembling is a data

analysis process used by the researcher to organize and reorganize collected information until themes emerge to answer the overarching research question (Yin, 2019). The study's conceptual framework acts as the bridge linking literature review to study results (Yin, 2019). I used reassembling as a data analysis tool to collect, arrange, and rearrange information until I had themes to answer the overarching research question for this study.

Reliability and Validity

The concepts for establishing reliability and validity differ between qualitative and quantitative research (Queirós et al., 2017). Yin (2019) explained that researchers should maintain a chain of evidence to increase the data's reliability and validity. The terms used in qualitative studies for measuring reliability and validity are dependability, credibility, and transferability (Hayashi et al., 2019; Laumann, 2020). According to Birt et al. (2016), quality and trustworthiness might be accomplished using methodological triangulation, transcript review, and member checking. The data examination process included the focus group session findings, individual interviews, and company documents such as published policies.

Reliability

Reliability means the availability of enough data to replicate the research using the same data collection techniques to produce consistent results (Dikko, 2016; Karasakaloglu, 2018; Noble & Smith, 2015). Houghton et al. (2013) argued that researchers judge research's soundness to assess the finding's reliability. Researchers use the interview protocol to achieve commonality in executing data collection and enhancing the research study (Platt & Skowron, 2013; Yeong et al., 2018; Yin, 2019). I

used the interview protocol to ask participants the same interview questions, ensuring consistency in the data collection.

Qualitative researchers incorporate methodological strategies, such as member checking, to improve the research findings' trustworthiness (FitzPatrick, 2019; Fusch et al., 2018). Varpio et al. (2017) revealed that member checking might increase the research finding's dependability because participants authenticate the data interpretations. Caretta (2015) noted that member checking validates the data analysis and strengthens the study's results. By addressing dependability in the research, researchers maintain the study's reliability (Harvey, 2015). I clarified the interview questions ensuring the participants understood each question to minimize confusion. I transcribed the participants' responses to the interview questions, gave participants my interpretations of their responses to the interview questions, and asked them to verify my interpretations' accuracy.

Researchers establish dependability through accurate data recordings (Lewis, 2015). Amirpour-Harehdasht et al. (2018) asserted that audio recordings produce a verbatim account of the research phenomenon free from error, bias, and false assumptions. Guest et al. (2017) noted that researchers record interview data to interpret, transcribe, member check, and analyze the data collection. Therefore, I used audio recording devices to produce a reliable account of the participants' responses, reducing bias in this study's data interpretation and analysis.

Validity

Validity refers to data interpretation accuracy, the accuracy of the analysis, and the study findings' generalizability to other situations (Rose & Johnson, 2020; Saunders et al., 2019). Hayashi et al. (2019) stated that validity involves crafting a theoretical justification of research findings to corroborate the data. According to Guest et al. (2017), credibility, transferability, and confirmability are the three validity criteria. Furthermore, Morse (2015) and Yin (2019) argued that these criteria improve qualitative research rigor, trustworthiness, appropriateness, and transparency. Thus, validity is the transparency and soundness of the study and helps to avoid data quality issues. Back et al. (2015) described validity as an assessment or test that accurately measures the researcher's purports to measure.

The use of more than one data source and data collection method confirms the validity, creditability, and authenticity of the data (Saunders et al., 2019). Triangulation increases the research's authenticity, and member checking promotes credibility (Joslin & Müller, 2016). Saunders et al. (2019) stated that researchers ensure data integrity by guaranteeing that the audio recorder works appropriately for each meeting, maintaining accurate records, translating the interview discussion verbatim without incorporating interviewer judgment, and following a proper interview protocol. Saunders et al. (2019) explained that a researcher's fundamental obligation is to ensure data integrity by verifying the research's soundness, accuracy, and truthfulness by analyzing multiple data sources. As the primary researcher, I analyzed the data, verified the discoveries, and made recommendations. Each participant received a copy of the transcribed interpretation

to confirm what they said and meant. Follow-up, transcript review, and triangulation validate the discoveries. Saunders et al. (2019) stated that data saturation contributes to the study's validity by exploring the difficulties of the concept and its underlying assumptions. To reach data saturation, I continued the investigation until there was no new information to obtain.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 included an overview and restatement of the purpose statement, an explanation of my role as the researcher, and the justification of the selected research method and design. Section 2 also included information to address ethical considerations, participant selection methods, and a data analysis discussion to address the study's reliability and validity. I used methodological triangulation to enhance the research findings' reliability and validity through semistructured interviews, member checking and reviewing company documents. Finally, in Section 3, I presented my findings, which included a description of the study's application to professional practice and implications for social change. Section 3 also contains recommendations for future action and further research and reflections.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore the strategies owners of small construction businesses use to reduce voluntary employee turnover. Scholars have explored and analyzed the issue of voluntary employee turnover in other industries (Bebe, 2016; Carreno, 2016). To build on those initial efforts, the purpose of this study was to explore strategies exclusively for small construction companies. Reducing voluntary employee turnover is crucial for business productivity and longevity (Porter & Rigby, 2020). Small construction business owners should understand the impacts of voluntary employee turnover in the construction industry and have the capacity to prevent it for long-term business sustainability. The interview data from the current study showed that reducing voluntary employee turnover was not an easy task because of the intensity and high physical demands of the construction industry. The analysis of the findings resulted in three major themes: effective human resource management, working conditions, and employee engagement.

Section 3 includes the presentation of findings, a description of the sample, and detailed explanations for why the analysis led to the three thematic findings. The section also includes a discussion of the significant thematic findings related to the conceptual framework for this study. Finally, in Section 3, I compare the three thematic findings to relevant previous published studies.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for this qualitative multiple case study was:

What strategies do small construction business owners use to reduce voluntary employee turnover? After collecting data from field notes, semistructured interviews, and companies' sources, I confirmed that data saturation had occurred after interviewing the fourth participant. Morse (2015) and Yin (2019) noted that data saturation provides enough information to confirm the study's validity. Using NVivo (Version 12), I identified three major themes during data analysis: (a) effective human resource management, (b) working conditions, and (c) organizational commitment. The subthemes that emerged were (a) effective recruitment and selection techniques, (b) competitive remuneration, (c) employee benefits, (d) safe work environment, (e) job description, (f) workplace culture, (g) employee empowerment, and (h) employee recognition.

Theme 1: Effective Human Resource Management

The first theme that emerged from data analysis was effective human resource management. This theme includes four subthemes: recruitment and selection of employees, competitive remuneration, employee benefits, and job description. Table 2 includes the subthemes, the number of participants who agree to the subthemes, and the percentage of the agreement to the subtheme compared to the total number of four participants.

 Table 2

 Subthemes for Theme 1: Effective Human Resource Management

Nodes/Subthemes	No. of participants	% of participant
		agreement
Recruitment and selection of employees	4	100
Competitive remuneration	4	100
Employee benefits	3	75
Job description	3	75

Human resource management is crucial to describing how employees work within an organization. The primary responsibilities of human resource managers are managing staffing, employee compensation and benefits, and defining each post of work (Santhanam et al., 2021). Eckardt et al. (2018) argued that small construction companies' sustainability should depend on the knowledge and expertise of their employees to create and increase economic value for their clients or customers. Suseno and Pinnington (2017) added that human resources management is crucial to improving employee engagement and motivation, creating a desire to remain in the organization for a long time.

Human resource managers play a critical role in sustaining a strong relationship between employers and employees (Santhanam et al., 2021). Small construction business owners can improve their strategy through human resource management to offer social advantages that reduce employee turnover. Responses for human resources management came from Questions 2 and 6, which focused on the most effective strategies to reduce

voluntary turnover. All participants' responses attested that human resource managers should be proactive and creative to increase organization performance by promoting organization values and mitigating turnover. For example, P3 stated, "Our human resources strategy to offer full insurance coverage to all employees and family members motivated employees to be productive, which increased values to our organization." P4 echoed that "Human resource managers used matching 401K premium payment strategy. The 401K match strategy was crucial to retain employees because they should work until retirement to get all full benefits." P1 added that "The role of human resources managers is to implement organizational policies and improve work safety and engagement."

The results of the data analysis indicated that participants experienced voluntary turnover for a lack of efficient strategies to promote employee satisfaction and motivation. In addition, P1 and P3 agreed that employee turnover impacted productivity and profitability. All four participants recommended selecting and recruiting devoted employees and offering good employee benefits to improve retention. Competitive remuneration is crucial for human resource managers to improve success and effectively reduce voluntary employee turnover in all the departments and divisions of the organization. To collaborate on the information shared, all the participants provided documents such as their company application forms used by prospective employees, pay structures, a list of benefits offered and participation rates, and employee handbooks.

Recruitment and Selection of Employees

Recruiting and selecting devoted or motivated employees is critical for human resource managers (Rawashdeh, 2018). De Winne et al. (2018) argued that small

construction business owners face unique challenges regarding voluntary employee turnover that impact their organizational sustainability. Therefore, they should be aware of hiring qualified and competent employees to be technically proficient. Newman et al. (2020) added that recruiting and selecting employees must comply with laws and regulations to avoid any potential conflict between employers and employees. P1 described the changes in their company recruitment practices from kneejerk hiring practices to more thoughtful and well-structured processes that have taken place since the firm's inception 33 years ago. P1 categorized the process as going from a strategy of

Just pick up a person from the street for an immediate position need. However, over the years, we changed our recruitment strategy to a methodological fill open positions to improve retention. The process starts by carefully planning, identifying the job's requirements and the skills to look for when interviewing, and selecting the candidate who fits the position.

P3 and P4 explained their process and how they use artificial intelligence software to screen resumes to select a qualified candidate, interview the candidate, and determine if they will fit the corporate culture. P2 added, "During the interview process, the human resource managers ensure that all candidates are assessed on their technical skills and personalities before evaluation. This strategy helped us keep the same agents until now."

P2 observed that their general approach to recruitment and hiring had not changed significantly but emphasized the need to use personal judgment and all available tools in recruiting employees that fit into the established corporate culture. P3 and P4 further reiterated the critical roles of human resource managers in an ongoing process of

ensuring that employees' continued commitment to the company by addressing issues such as disciplinary actions, employee grievances are addressed, employee evaluations are done promptly, and any other human resource management issues that may arise. As a result, happy employees remain employed and become brand advocates to other potential recruits. P2 agreed and added, "We always make it a point to regularly scheduled meetings with recruits to help acclimatize and create that personal connection. Our job is to make you feel welcome and help with the transition." Based on job embeddedness theory, selection and recruiting practices are factors that human resource managers should utilize to prevent voluntary employee turnover (Peltokorpi et al., 2022).

All participants recognized that using and finding effective strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover was crucial for their business sustainability and longevity. In addition, the four participants admitted that a good selection of new employees in the recruitment and promotion processes was beneficial to hiring and promoting devoted and engaged employees who will remain proactive during their entire careers. All four participants confirmed that reducing employee turnover was critical to building a solid relationship with customers. Moreover, based on information collected from interviews, public sources, and companies' documents, it becomes clear that promoting an efficient human resources practice was necessary to prevent and reduce voluntary employee turnover in all the departments and divisions.

Competitive remuneration

In human resources, a competitive salary or remuneration may vary depending on a company's pay philosophy. Hurrell and Keiser (2020) argued that managers, especially

in the current business context where competition is rampant, should use competitive remuneration to attract and retain employees for organizational sustainability. Syahreza et al. (2017) added that employees are likely demotivated and looking for new job opportunities if their basic salary requirements are not met. The findings from interviews attest that a competitive remuneration strategy increases retention and reduces voluntary employee turnover when applied. P1 noted, "Offering very competitive and fair remuneration helped enhance employees' morale and make them give out the best in them for the company." P3 reported, "one way to reduce employee turnover is by offering fair pay or wages that commensurate workers' experience contribution." P2 and P4 suggested that a paying employee slightly above the industry-going rate is an effective strategy for reducing voluntary employee turnover. P3 and P4 added that to find skilled employees to compete in this complex and ever-changing market environment, offering competitive wages to employees allowed them to remain competitive and offer the best quality of services to clients.

Messersmith et al. (2018) stated that business owners, especially in the construction industry, need effective management strategies to increase employees' welfare to reduce voluntary employee turnover. P2 and P3 also agreed that paying employees at or above the market rate is catalytic to minimize employee turnover effectively. P2 stated, "We created and empowered our human resources management to use all the tools at their disposal to fairly compensated employees. Effective human resource management's role is to establish an employee remuneration package that can motivate and influence employee decisions to stay in the organization (Ali & Anwar,

2021). The human resource managers should also ensure salaries and wages are comparable to market wage rates and promptly address any employee concerns (Messersmith et al., 2018).

All participants also admitted that an attractive pay and salary package was beneficial to hiring and promoting devoted and engaged employees who will remain proactive during their entire careers. Participants also attested that giving employees timely job evaluations and raises was strategic to increase job satisfaction and reduce voluntary turnover. P3 and P4 added that human resource practices to periodical review remuneration packages and recommending modest wage increases were vital in keeping a skilled workforce. Furthermore, all participants indicated how reducing voluntary turnover or increasing employee retention led to their organizations' sustainment and increased profits. For example, P2 attested that when employees feel well compensated, they feel respected and satisfied being in the organization. Their testimonies encourage other employees to join the organization. Finally, all participants indicated that combining the tenets of job embeddedness, leadership theory, and managerial experience of employee retention was critical to reducing voluntary employee turnover in the small construction industry.

Employee Benefits

Choy and Kamoche (2021) identified employee benefits as an interrupting authority for voluntary employee turnover. According to Das (2021), voluntary employee turnover links with the employee benefits strategy. The findings from participants' interviews attested that benefits such as health insurance, flexible spending accounts, life

and disability insurance, retirement savings, PTO, childcare, and eldercare were some of the social benefits that contributed to reducing employee turnover voluntarily. P1 said, "As a small construction company, we have limited resources; we cannot out-compete some of the established competition in terms of higher wages. So, we offer, for instance, retirement benefits such as 401K and match up to 6% of employee salary, which means that an employee puts in 6% of his salary and the company matches with 6%." P3 and P4 echoed that they offered a 401K retirement plan with a 3% match, and they are planning to increase because of market competition. P1, P2, and P3 added that they also offer tuition reimbursement programs to employees willing to improve their education. P2 said, "We currently have people attending community college doing electricity and mechanical maintenance programs. The company supports tuition and provides all school's needs to increase retention and reduce turnover." P3 mentioned that having well-defined employee benefits significantly affects employee decision to seek employment elsewhere.

Thibault et al. (2017) posited that offering robust employee benefits can be a powerful tool that small construction business owners may use to retain talented employees. F. Li et al. (2018) found that a comprehensive benefits system would motivate employees to develop more creative solutions for the organization. P3 revealed that his company included a tax-deferred annuity, saving programs, long-term disability, life insurance, free parking, and paid holidays in its benefits package to increase employee satisfaction and reduce turnover. P2 indicated that his construction company offers employees a liberal fringe benefit package such as PTO, health, life, disability,

dental, and vision insurance. P1 and P4 indicated that they offered an extension of tuition assistance to children under 18 years old and spouses of employees who completed at least 5 years of continuous service.

Participants also indicated that offering fair and competitive social benefits packages was paramount to increasing employee retention or reducing voluntary turnover. Moreover, participants added that increasing social benefits such as health insurance, retirement plans, or annual bonuses helped increase adherence to the organization's culture and prevent voluntary turnover. P2 and P4 stated that paying a recognition bonus to an employee of the month or the year increased employee motivation and desire to perform more than others. P1, P2, and P3 added that their strategies to observe significant holidays gave employees a break from work and a sense of pride critical to hiring competent and honest employees who will remain loyal to the organization. Islam et al. (2021) stated that managers should recruit dedicated and conscientious individuals to increase a company's reputation and customer satisfaction, which may be beneficial in reducing voluntary employee turnover.

Job Description

Scott et al. (2021) asserted that employees resign when skills and knowledge are not commensurate with the job requirements. Some organizations do not consider job descriptions a priority, even though a mismatch of talent and capabilities leads to unnecessary absenteeism and low morale (Ju & Li, 2019). All four participants highlighted the need to evaluate the job requirements and skills required to do the job successfully. According to P1, "It is imperative that you look for the right candidate with

the correct skillset when you hire." A strategy that has worked for P3 is reviewing employees' job descriptions versus what tasks to be performed to make sure employees are not overloaded.

P3 and P4 added that understanding the job requirements enables the company to help employees by providing the proper training for the job. A study conducted by Schwarzmüller et al. (2018) found that job design offers a high level of employee control and provides increased opportunities for the development and exercise of skills. It is essential to recognize that effective selection is not sustained if employees are placed in positions that match their skills to improve employee retention. According to P2, "Selecting and placing employees begins with accurate and thorough job analysis to establish the available position's tasks, duties, and responsibilities and the skills required for successful performance." P2 further added that the selection of the potential candidate needs to be based upon job-related criteria found in the job description to improve the probability of a successful pick and minimize the probability of mismatch that may lead to voluntary turnover. A realistic job description should improve the probability that the candidate's on-the-job experience will match the expectations developed during the selection process to improve employee retention and reduce voluntary turnover.

Links to the Literature

The findings from the interviews and review of publicly available company documents align with the human resource role and organizational commitment section of my professional and academic literature review, where I discussed how small construction business owners could utilize human resource management, remuneration,

and employee benefits to improve employee motivation and reduce voluntary employee turnover. Human resource management may provide small construction business owners with practical strategies to improve training and social advantages such as PTO to reduce voluntary employee turnover (Chiat & Panatik, 2019). All participants interviewed reflected that they use effective recruitment and selection techniques, competitive remuneration, and employee benefits to improve retention and reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Links to the Conceptual Framework

The findings from the interviews align with the sacrifice element of the job embeddedness conceptual framework. Afsar et al. (2018) argued that the fairer the reward and benefits, the more the employee sacrifices if they leave the organization. A significant loss could mean that the employee would have to sacrifice something, which is an element of the job embeddedness. Small construction business owners must understand what motivates people to retain valued employees. Some employees prefer a simple thank you and a pat on the back, while others prefer financial rewards or bonuses. Therefore, the alignment between the conceptual framework concerning sacrifice job embeddedness by Mitchell et al. (2001), the interviews, and analysis of the publicly available company documents, suggests that employees may remain at an organization because of positive social benefits and rewards recognition that they receive from their employers.

Theme 2: Working Conditions

The second theme that emerged was the working conditions. This theme includes two subthemes: workforce safety and culture. Table 3 includes the two subthemes, the number of adherences to the sub-themes, and the percentage compared to the total number of four participants.

Table 3Working Conditions

Nodes/Themes	No. of participants	% of participant agreement
Workforce safety	4	100
Workforce culture	3	75

Good working conditions create an environment that promotes employee safety and an organizational culture necessary to achieve organizational goals. Based on job embeddedness theory, favorable working conditions are critical to reducing voluntary employee turnover. The findings from participants' interviews attested that good working conditions are paramount to motivating employees to perform their jobs to their highest ability. Therefore, managers who promote favorable working conditions could increase productivity (Hopkins & McKay, 2019). Parmer and Dillard (2018) argued that managers could achieve good working conditions by focusing on their overall organizational culture that supports employee growth and make their employees feel safe and comfortable. P1 and P4 stated that improving safety and promoting favorable working conditions increased employees' sense of belongingness. For example, P4 said, "Making

employee voices heard by holding a regular staff meeting and allowing employees to share ideas and concerns freely, offer strong encouragement, and personalized employee work areas help increase confidence and strengthen the employer-employee relationship." P2 and P3 agreed that providing food and snacks every morning was strategic, promoting favorable working conditions, and ensuring healthy eating among employees. Based on job embeddedness theory, a good working condition is crucial for motivating employees to become proactively productive and remarkably reduce voluntary turnover. During the interviews, all four participants acknowledged the importance of promoting favorable working conditions as an effective strategy to reduce voluntary turnover.

Workplace Safety

Federal law requires organizations to implement a safe workplace to prevent health and safety hazards. Kelly et al. (2021) argued that employers should improve the work environment to increase retention and productivity. Silviana (2021) added that improving safety hazards in the workplace may decrease stress and enhance employee loyalty, which is critical to reducing voluntary employee turnover. P2 and P4 indicated that a safe workplace creates a competitive atmosphere without stress. P1 and P3 added that they ensured their workplace safety by conducting unannounced worksite walk-thru visits and inviting all employees to be daily and weekly safety meetings. For example, P1 stated: "I participate in the safety field meeting with my employees to emphasize avoiding accidents and inviting all participants to share their thoughts to prevent hazards. This was very productive, and all employees liked the idea."

Moreover, Yusliza et al.'s (2020) study led to a positive relationship between a safe work environment and employee retention. A safe work environment is critical to building a positive relationship between employee job satisfaction and productivity and minimizing accidents or hazards on the job site. All four participants indicated that creating a safe work environment for employees in the construction industry was strategic to maintain a high level of production and sales. The interviews indicated that all participants believed that improving the work environment was crucial for increasing employees' desire to belong to the company and reducing turnover. For instance, the response to question 4 from P4 supported the notion that a safety management strategy entails ensuring employees take periodic breaks away from their tasks and comply with the proper Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) policy. P3 added that supervisors enforced the procedure of taking 15 minutes breaks after every 3 hours of nonstop work to decrease stress and potential hazards or accidents during work. P1 and P2 echoed that providing appropriate PPE and training all employees on using equipment safely was paramount to avoid incidents and protect employees from any hazards. All four participants provided proof of their publicly available safety records, such as Osha 300 and employee safety training records. Analyzing work environment safety, Silviana (2021) found that employees who work in a safe environment appear to be much happier and more productive.

Workplace Culture

Workplace culture is a compendium of employees' attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors that create a positive atmosphere in a work environment. Bourgault and Goforth (2021) argued that a positive workplace culture aligns employee behaviors and company policies with reaching the organization's goals. Per Rio et al. (2021), a sound work culture should determine a positive professional relationship between employee attitude, work-life balance, growth opportunities, and job satisfaction. All four participants agreed on maintaining an organizational culture that promotes flexibility and trust in small construction businesses. Participants also attested that increasing employee trust leads to high employee retention. Fowler and Birdsall (2020) stated that managers should be more flexible to promote a positive workplace culture and increase employees' intrinsic motivation to remain in the organization. P1 said, "Promoting a workplace culture helped create a brotherhood environment that reduced turnover." P3 added, "I used to spend most of my time at work to experiment and develop a workplace culture based on trust for all employees at all levels of business activities. This is because I just wanted to show my employees that I trust them, give them room to do their jobs, which is crucial for reducing turnover." According to Almaaitah et al. (2017) and Riyanto et al. (2021), work cultures foster teamwork through flexible scheduling and provide a positive work-life balance while promoting job satisfaction. All four participants attested to creating an identifiable work culture that employees can relate to.

Links to the Literature

The findings from the interviews also align with the work environment and organizational commitment sections found in the literature review of the professional and academic literature. The work environment is crucial in establishing a positive employee-organization relationship. When business leadership shares critical information with

employees, whether the message is good or bad, it is known as accountability and transparency (Y. Lee & Li, 2020). P3 reiterated the importance of building a solid relationship based on trust and respect. Small construction business owners can help reduce voluntary turnover by promoting a safe working environment with strong work culture and well-defined tasks. When team members struggle, they might find it more challenging to effectively exchange ideas and information (Eisenberg et al., 2019). The findings from the interviews also align with the management and leadership section of my review of professional and academic literature, precisely where I discussed transformational leadership. Leaders who implement transformational leadership can considerably influence employee job satisfaction and commitment to the organization (Virgiawan et al., 2021). The success of a transformational leader relies on the leader's ability to offer inspirational motivation, idealized influence, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Eisenberg et al., 2019). Based on the findings from the interviews, all participants appeared to display transformational leadership characteristics based on their techniques to effectively communicate with their team to strengthen the employee-organization relationship.

Links to the Conceptual Framework

The findings from the interviews align with the fit and link elements of the job embeddedness conceptual framework. When a small construction business owner provides a safe and conducive work environment, employees feel a sense of pride and ownership of the organization (Men & Yue, 2019). Additionally, the more the employees feel connected to their community or organization, the more likely they perform at

optimal levels and surpass management, and their fellow employees' expectations increase (Susomrith & Amankwaa, 2019). Therefore, small construction business owners can positively influence employee fit and link embeddedness by creating a safe work environment, establishing a solid work culture, and a well-defined job description to reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Theme 3: Employee Engagement

The third theme that emerged was employee engagement. This theme includes two subthemes: employee empowerment and recognition. Table 4 includes the two subthemes, the number of participants' adherence to the sub-themes, and the percentage compared to the total number of four participants.

Table 4

Employee Engagement

Nodes/Themes	No. of participants	% of participant agreement
		with subthemes
Employee empowerment	3	75
Employee recognition	4	100

Employee engagement is the emotional attachment that employees have toward their organizations and goals, which results in the voluntary use of discretionary effort (Mackay et al., 2017). Engaged employees experience pride and loyalty toward their organizations and usually perform above standards (Adnan-Bataineh, 2019). According to job embeddedness theory, managers should have the ability to increase employee

engagement to increase motivation and satisfaction (Shibiti, 2019). The results of the data analysis indicated that participants used employee empowerment and recognition to increase engagement. The theme of employee engagement emerged from interview questions 2, 4, and 5, in which participants presented their efficient strategies to increase employee desire to belong to the organization. The theme of employee engagement aligns with job embeddedness theory because it leads to satisfaction, which is crucial to improving employee retention and reducing voluntary turnover. For example, P4 argued that high-performing employees were self-motivated. P3 stated, "As the owner, I have to know who my best performers are and reward them accordingly. If one puts an extra effort and produces at a premium, showing a blind eye will be demotivating." P1 and P2 added that recognizing and rewarding good workers inspires other employees to positively replicate their behaviors or attitudes. According to Putri and Adnyani (2021), incentives encourage employees to perform at a premium. All participants agreed that encouraging employees to think about where they would like to be in the long term was essential to foster teamwork, create a positive work environment, and reduce turnover.

Employee empowerment

Participants agreed that empowering all staff to provide their best service possible leads to a strong comfort level that promotes engagement. Murray and Holmes (2021) argued that employee empowerment strengthens an organization's operations and encourages employee retention. P1, P2, and P4 noted that their strategy to empower employees individually and collectively was critical to mitigating turnover and increasing productivity. P3 shared, "Our staff is empowered to make things right on the spot. We

provide extensive training and options for our staff to change the service or remain in the same department." P3 statement aligned with the conclusion of Murray and Holmes (2021). Carter et al. (2018) also argued that employees seek appointments for personal fulfillment by achieving goals and recognition of success. Pellegrini et al. (2018) stated that empowered employees are more motivated to strengthen their performance by gaining a sense of authority.

Employee Recognition

Recognizing employee accomplishments in the workplace and the family or social lives reduces concerns associated with work-life conflicts and potential voluntary turnover (Eversole & Crowder, 2020; Hammer, 2021). All participants agreed that their strategy to make employee recognition part of the organizational culture increased engagement and reduced voluntary turnover. Also, participants recognized that employee recognition, including incentives, holiday and milestone celebrations, and bonuses, led to high employee satisfaction. P4 added that celebrating successes and tiny victories strengthens the team and makes employees feel valued. P3 claimed, "We try and give everybody New Year's Day off to have that time with their families." All participants attested that organizing holiday parties and events, including families, helped reinforce the family-centric management approach, positively impacting employee engagement and turnover.

All business owners agreed that recognizing employee effort while doing their job effectively increased engagement and reduced voluntary employee turnover. Within the conceptual framework, organizational support is tied to increasing job embeddedness

through the employee perception of fit within the team and the organization. Moreover, the excellent perception of administrative support for management practices increases positive fit job embeddedness and reduces voluntary turnover (Bapuji et al., 2020; Suifan et al., 2018). Specifically, flexibility with scheduling and recognition programs improve employee perception of the organization as a workplace, increasing job embeddedness and reducing potential turnover (Archimi et al., 2018; Suifan et al., 2018).

Links to the Literature

The findings from the interviews align with employee engagement and the review of the professional and academic literature. Employees who participate and engage in corporate governance in their organization can influence positive outcomes by having a voice in the organizational processes (Bapuji et al., 2020). Therefore, construction managers who effectively engage their employees and encourage them to participate inside and outside the organization can positively influence job satisfaction and thus reduce voluntary nurse turnover.

Links to the Conceptual Framework

The findings from the interviews align with the fit and link elements of the job embeddedness conceptual framework. Organizational leaders who understand job embeddedness can improve employee retention by offering opportunities for growth and rewards and displaying fairness among employees (Susomrith & Amankwaa, 2019). In addition, small construction business owners who can effectively engage their employees and inspire participation may help them feel a greater sense of fit and link with their job and organization, ultimately reducing voluntary turnover.

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings of this study highlighted how owners of small construction businesses successfully managed voluntary employee turnover. Successful managers of small companies should rely on promoting the effectiveness of human resources management, a positive work environment, and employee engagement to sustain their business. Moreover, small business managers should consider applying an effective recruitment and selection technique, competitive remuneration, and employee benefits. Managers should also consider improving the work environment and organizational culture to sustain positive work conditions. Increasing employee empowerment and recognition is also crucial to maintaining corporate productivity engagement. Small construction managers can use the findings of this study to prevent and reduce voluntary turnover. The results are also practical solutions to meet employees' expectations by offering the same social benefits such as PTO, promoting organizational culture, and providing high-quality professional services. This study illuminated how owners of small construction businesses reduced voluntary employee turnover in their companies by addressing recruitment and hiring practices, competitive compensation, and healthy corporate culture. Small construction business owners may reduce voluntary employee turnover in their companies by improving recruitment and hiring practices, competitive salaries, and healthy corporate culture.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for a positive social change of this study include the potential of small construction business managers to develop strategies to reduce voluntary employee

turnover, which may support job stability, increase income from profitable businesses, and improve family relationships. Small construction businesses are professional services providers that rely on their human capital assets for profitability and viability. Then, motivated construction employees could provide their expertise to volunteer in local communities' programs by improving infrastructures such as schools, hospitals, and roads. Moreover, Business owners who recruit and hire skilled and motivated employees may provide individual growth and development opportunities and improve the overall talent in the local community. One of the ways that small construction managers can attract and retain talent is to create organizational cultures that foster high levels of communication and employee engagement, both of which add to overall employee satisfaction and stability for organizations and their families. The findings of this study on strategies for reducing voluntary employee turnover may contribute to ensuring a long career opportunity and providing additional retirement benefits.

Recommendations for Action

Small construction business owners may use the results of this study to tailor strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover. Managers in small construction businesses should promote organizational structures to maintain scheduling flexibility, recognition programs, formal hiring, and onboarding processes. Through personal interactions strengthening fittings within the team, and fitting with the organizational structure, small construction business owners can facilitate environments where employees feel valued for their contributions and ideas. Small construction business owners should promote employee advancement by providing cross-training opportunities.

Furthermore, emphasizing on development and nurturing of those employee management links could help tip employee perceptions of the organization and opt to remain with the company. Small construction business owners should also build and maintain a positive working relationship with their employees, set clear boundaries, and openly communicate responsibilities and expectations to foster conducive working conditions. Good working conditions help keep an engaged workforce essential in reducing voluntary employee turnover.

After the publication of my study in the ProQuest database, I will provide an executive summary of 1-to-2 pages to each participant, in which I will present the findings and conclusion of the study. In addition, I will present the findings in leadership conferences, professional forums, or training workshops upon request. The complete study/ dissertation will be available in ProQuest/entire dissertation database searches for academic reference and dissemination. I will also use social media platforms to disseminate my study with other entrepreneurs, business owners, and scholars.

Recommendations for Further Research

The study's findings shed light on some of the participants' measures to prevent voluntary employee turnover issues. Varying reasons may lead to voluntary employee turnover, and small construction business owners need specific strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover rates. Small construction business owners are only one subset of leadership in the construction industry, just as small construction is only a subset of the more significant US economy. Researchers should consider the perspectives of other industry leaders such as line supervisors, peer leaders, or senior-level strategists

to increase the understanding of strategies they use to provide a variety of perspectives. Such research may help unravel strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover that this project did not reveal. Some participants might not be honest or have complete information regarding strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover. I recommend that researchers replicate this study but employ a more extensive study population to help improve the understanding of voluntary employee turnover reduction strategies from a more diverse and broad number of participants. I recommend that further studies include small construction business owners in other construction industries, such as new construction, addition, or renovations, whose managers have increased productivity and profitability by addressing voluntary employee turnover issues.

Reflections

My experience in the Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) was extremely challenging while being exceptionally rewarding. The greatest challenge was the time required while my professional and family life continued. I enrolled in the DBA program without having prior scholarly work in business administration. While it took some time to learn how to be clear, concise, and precise, my business writing and presentation style enhanced my professional communication.

I gained a deeper insight into voluntary employee turnover, which is very important in my professional career. This study helped me explore ways other small construction business owners reduce voluntary employee turnover, which might help many organizations. I had some preconceptions about small construction business owners' strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover. I thought wages and benefits

would have a more substantial impact on retention than the participants indicated. I had often observed construction employees' work and had a general idea of the workload, types of work, and management practices. I knew the average wage for construction employees was meager. Before starting this line of research, I did not understand how a friendly atmosphere and favorable working conditions could outweigh the financial aspect of a job.

Completing the DBA program enhanced my critical and creative thinking, helped me develop a holistic problem-solving approach to challenges, and taught me the true meaning of perseverance. As a result, I now understand how different research methods support and inform each other, the essential elements of research design with appropriate measures of performance and effectiveness, and how to package findings and results with an emphasis on feasibility and time for business practice.

Conclusion

Construction business owners play a critical role in promoting positive social change and economic development in the local communities. However, the increasing voluntary employee turnover rate affects organization productivity and profitability. For small construction business sustainability, managers need efficient strategies to reduce voluntary turnover at all business levels of activities. The main goal of this study was to identify and explore practical strategies small construction business owners in the construction industry use to reduce voluntary turnover. Exploring the benefits of reducing voluntary turnover was paramount to preventing employee burnout, ensuring success, and

increasing productivity and profitability. Also, reducing voluntary turnover led to improving employee motivation and confidence.

Voluntary employee turnover in the construction industry has become frequent because of the attractiveness and competitiveness of construction business activities. The conceptual framework provided insight into the internal organizational factors influencing employee decisions to stay at a job and the external influences that affect employee decisions. With the use of methodological triangulation, three themes emerged to include (a) effective human resource management, (b) working conditions, and (c) organizational commitment. The findings of this study indicated the need for small construction business owners to empower their human resources to recruit and offer competitive remuneration and benefits while promoting a safe workplace to reduce voluntary employee turnover. Furthermore, current small construction business owners affected by the high rate of voluntary turnover can use the findings of this study to return employees at a higher rate, thereby avoiding becoming statistics of failed companies through improved productivity and profitability.

References

- Abdul Azeez, S. (2017). Human resource management practices and employee retention:

 A review of the literature. *Journal of Economics, Management, and Trade*, 18(2),

 1-10. https://doi.org/10.9734/JEMT/2017/32997
- Abyad, A. (2017). Globalization challenges in project management. *Middle East Journal of Business*, 55(5478), 1-10. https://doi.org/IEJB.2017.9308j
- Adams, W. C. (2015). Conducting semi-structured interviews. In K. E. Newcomer, H. P. Hatry, & J. S. Wholey (Eds.), *Handbook of practical program evaluation* (4th ed., pp. 492-505). https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119171386.ch19
- Adnan-Bataineh, K. (2019). Impact of work-life balance, happiness at work, on employee performance. *International Business Research*, 12(2), 99-112. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v12n2p99
- Afsar, B., & Masood, M. (2018). Transformational leadership, creative self-efficacy, trust in supervisor, uncertainty avoidance, and innovative work behavior of nurses. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *54*(1), 36-61. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886317711891
- Afsar, B., Shahjehan, A., & Shah, S. I. (2018). Frontline employees' high-performance work practices, trust in supervisor, job-embeddedness, and turnover intentions in hospitality industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 30(3), 1436-1452. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-11-2016-0633
- Agbionu, U. C., Anyalor, M., & Nwali, A. C. (2018). Employee engagement and performance of lecturers in Nigerian tertiary institutions. *Journal of Education*

- and Entrepreneurship, 5(2), 69-87. https://doi.org/10.26762/jee.2018.40000015
- Agbozo, G. K., Owusu, I. S., Hoedoafia, M. A., & Atakorah, Y. B. (2017). The effect of work environment on job satisfaction: Evidence from the banking sector in Ghana. *Journal of Human Resource Management*, 5(1), 12-18. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.jhrm.20170501.12
- Agusramadani, P. D., & Amalia, L. (2018). The influence of job involvement and job satisfaction toward employee turnover intention (Case in Indonesia Broadcasting).

 **Journal of Business and Management, 20(5), 11-18. http://doi.org/10.9790/487X-2005051118
- Ahmad, A., Kausar, A. R., & Azhar, S. M. (2015). HR professional effectiveness and competencies: A perceptual study in the banking sector of Pakistan. *International Journal of Business and Society*, *16*(2), 201-220.

 https://doi.org/10.33736/ijbs.564.2015
- Ahmad, R., Islam, T., & Saleem, S. (2019). How commitment and satisfaction explain leave intention in the police force? *Policing: An International Journal*, 42(2), 195-208. https://doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-12-2017-0154
- Ahmadi, N., & Shahandashti, M. (2017). Comparative empirical analysis of temporal relationships between construction investment and economic growth in the United States. *Construction Economics and Building*, 17(3), 85-108.

 https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0001391
- Akhmetshin, E. M., Ilyina, I. A., Kulibanova, V. V., & Teor, T. R. (2019). "Employee engagement" management facilitates the recovery from crisis situations. In S.

Shaposhnikov & L. Sharakhina (Eds.), 2019 Communication strategies in digital society workshop (ComSDS) (pp. 50-55). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/COMSDS.2019.8709645

- Aktar, A., & Pangil, F. (2018). Mediating role of organizational commitment in the relationship between human resource management practices and employee engagement: Does black box stage exist? *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*. 38(7-8), 606-636. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSSP-08-2017-0097
- Al Ahbabi, S. A., Singh, S. K., Balasubramanian, S., & Gaur, S. S. (2019). Employee perception of impact of knowledge management processes on public sector performance. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 23(2), 351-373. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-08-2017-0348
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9-19. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9
- Albrecht, S. L., & Marty, A. (2020). Personality, self-efficacy, and job resources and their associations with employee engagement, affective commitment, and turnover intentions. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(5), 657-681. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1362660
- Ali Suba'a Al-sadi, B., & Khan, F. R. (2018). Examining turnover issue in the construction companies of Oman: Employees' perspective. *Humanities and Social Science Reviews*, 6(2), 52-63. https://doi.org/10.18510/hssr.2018.627
- Ali, B. J., & Anwar, G. (2021). An empirical study of employees' motivation and its

- influence on job satisfaction. *International Journal of Engineering, Business, and Management*, 5(2), 21-30. https://doi.org/10.22161/ijebm.5.2.3
- Al-Jabari, B., & Ghazzawi, I. (2019). Organizational commitment: A review of the conceptual and empirical literature and research. *International Leadership Journal*, 11(1), 79-131. http://internationalleadershipjournal.com
- Allen, D. C. (2015). Research, when you know what you're doing: A review of essentials of qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 451-453.

 https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2120
- Almaaitah, F. M., Harada, Y., Sakdan, M., & Almaaitah, A. (2017). Integrating Herzberg and social exchange theories to underpin human resource practices, leadership style, and employee retention in the health sector. *World Journal of Business and Management*, 3(1), 16-34. https://doi.org/10.5296/wjbm.v3i1.10880
- Al-Maaitah, R., AbuAlRub, R. F., & Al Blooshi, S. (2018). Practice environment as perceived by nurses in acute care hospitals in Sharjah and North Emirates.

 Nursing Forum, 53(2), 213-222. https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12245
- Al-Malki, M., & Juan, W. (2018). Leadership styles and job performance: A literature review. *Journal of International Business Research and Marketing*, *3*(3), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.18775/jibrm.1849-8558.2015.33.3004
- Al-Mamun, C. A., & Hasan, M. N. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in business organization: A conceptual view. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 15(1), 63-71.

 https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06

- Al-Sada, M., Al-Esmael, B., & Faisal, M. N. (2017). Influence of organizational culture and leadership style on employee satisfaction, commitment, and motivation in the educational sector in Qatar. *EuroMed Journal of Business*, *12*(2), 163-188. https://doi.org/10.1108/EMJB-02-2016-0003
- Alsharif, M. H., Yahya, K., & Geem, Z. W. (2020). Strategic market growth and policy recommendations for sustainable solar energy deployment in South Korea.

 Journal of Electrical Engineering and Technology, 15(2), 803-815.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s42835-019-00331-6
- Amdan, S., Rahman, R. A., Shahid, S. A. M., Bakar, S. A., Khir, M. M., & Demong, N. A. R. (2016). The role of extrinsic motivation on the relationship between office environment and organizational commitment. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 37(1), 164-169. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30108-3
- Ames, A. D., Coogan, S., Egerstedt, M., Notomista, G., Sreenath, K., & Tabuada, P. (2019, June). Control barrier functions: Theory and applications. In 2019 18th European Control Conference (ECC) (pp. 3420-3431). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.23919/ecc.2019.8796030
- Amirpour-Harehdasht, S., Roubtsova, V., Chekired, M., Hussien, M. N., & Karray, M. (2018). Micromechanics-based assessment of reliability and applicability of boundary measurements in symmetrical direct shear test. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*, 55(3), 397-413. https://doi.org/10.1139/cgj-2017-0274
- An, S. H. (2019). Employee voluntary and involuntary turnover and organizational performance: Revisiting the hypothesis from classical public administration.

- International Public Management Journal, 22(3), 444-469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2018.1549629
- Annansingh, F., & Howell, K. (2016). Using phenomenological constructivism (PC) to discuss a mixed approach in information system research. *Electronic Journal of Business Methods*, *14*(1), 39-49. https://doi.org/10.2307/2107196
- Apuke, O. D. (2017). Quantitative research methods: A synopsis approach. *Kuwait Chapter of Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 33(5471), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.12816/0040336
- Aqqad, N., Obeidat, B., Tarhini, A., & Masa'deh, R. E. (2019). The relationship among emotional intelligence, conflict management styles, and job performance in Jordanian banks. *International Journal of Human Resources Development and Management*, 19(3), 225-265. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJHRDM.2019.100636
- Archimi, C. S., Reynaud, E., Yasin, H. M., & Bhatti, Z. A. (2018). How perceived corporate social responsibility affects employee cynicism: The mediating role of organizational trust. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *151*(4), 907-921. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3882-6
- Arnold, K. A. (2017). Transformational leadership and employee psychological well-being: A review and directions for future research. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(3), 381- 393. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000062
- Aseervatham, R. (2021). Leading tomorrow: How effective leaders change paradigms, build responsible brands, and transform employees. CRC Press.
- Ashton, A. S. (2018). How human resources management best practice influence

- employee satisfaction and job retention in the Thai hotel industry. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality and Tourism*, *17*(2), 175-199. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2017.1340759
- Asimah, V. K. (2018). Factors that influence labor turnover intentions in the hospitality industry in Ghana. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure*, 7(1), 1-11. https://www.ajhtl.com/uploads/7/1/6/3/7163688/article_2_vol_7_1_2018.pdf
- Assaad, R., & El-Adaway, I. H. (2020). Enhancing the knowledge of construction business failure: A social network analysis approach. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, *146*(6), 04020052-04020066.

 https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0001831
- Ayodele, O. A., Chang-Richards, A., & González, V. (2020). Factors affecting workforce turnover in the construction sector: A systematic review. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, *146*(2), 03119010-03119025. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0001725
- Azeez, M., Gambatese, J., & Hernandez, S. (2019). What do construction workers really want? A study about representation, importance, and perception of US construction occupational rewards. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 145(7), 04019040-04019058.

 https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0001669
- Back, K. J., Williams, R. J., & Lee, C. K. (2015). Reliability and validity of three instruments (DSM-IV, CPGI, and PPGM) in the assessment of problem gambling in South Korea. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *31*(3), 775-786.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-014-9442-9

- Badrianto, Y., & Ekhsan, M. (2020). Effect of work environment and job satisfaction on employee performance in P.T. Nesinak industries. *Journal of Business*Management and Accounting, 2(1), 322984-323069.

 https://e-journal.stie-kusumanegara.ac.id/
- Baek, J., Cho, H., Han, K., & Lee, H. (2020). Association between nursing work environment and compassion satisfaction among clinical nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 28(2), 368-376. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12937
- Baltzan, P., & Phillips, A. (2017). *Business-driven technology* (7th ed.). McGraw-Hill Education.
- Bamkin, M., Maynard, S., & Goulding, A. (2016). Grounded theory and ethnography combined. *Journal of Documentation*, 72, 214-231.

 https://doi/org/10.1108/JD-01-2015-0007
- Bapuji, H., Ertug, G., & Shaw, J. D. (2020). Organizations and societal economic inequality: A review and way forward. *Academy of Management Annals*, *14*(1), 60-91. https://doi.org/10.5465/annals.2018.0029
- Barnes, C. M., Awtrey, E., Lucianetti, L., & Spreitzer, G. (2020). Leader sleep devaluation, employee sleep, and unethical behavior. *Sleep Health*, 6(3), 411-417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2019.12.001
- Barrena-Martínez, J., López-Fernández, M., & Romero-Fernández, P. M. (2019).

 Towards a configuration of socially responsible human resource management policies and practices: Findings from an academic consensus. *The International*

- Journal of Human Resource Management, 30(17), 2544-2580. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1332669
- Bass, B. M. (1990). From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. *Organizational Dynamics*, *18*(3), 19-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(90)90061-S
- Bilal, H., Farooq, N., & Hayat, K. (2019). Empirically investigating the impact of employee engagement on counterproductive work behavior of academic staff. *Global Regional Review*, 4(1), 120-127 http://dx.doi.org/10.31703/grr.2019(IV-I).14
- Bilan, Y., Mishchuk, H., Roshchyk, I., & Joshi, O. (2020). Hiring and retaining skilled employees in SMEs: problems in human resource practices and links with organizational success. *Business: Theory and Practice*, 21(2), 780-791.

 https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2020.12750
- Billups, F. D. (2019). *Qualitative data collection tools: Design, development, and applications* (Vol. 55). SAGE Publications.
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bliss, L. A. (2016). Phenomenological research: Inquiry to understand the meanings of people's experiences. *International Journal of Adult Vocational Education and Technology (IJAVET)*, 7(3), 14-26. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJAVET.2016070102
- Bloomfield, J., & Fisher, M. J. (2019). Quantitative research design. Journal of the

- Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses Association, 22(2), 27-30. https://doi.org/10.33235/jarna.22.2.27-30
- Bourgault, A. M., & Goforth, C. (2021). Embrace teamwork to create and maintain a positive workplace culture. *Critical Care Nurse*, 41(3), 8-10. https://doi.org/10.4037/ccn2021662
- Breevaart, K., & Bakker, A. B. (2018). Daily job demands and employee work engagement: The role of daily transformational leadership behavior. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23(3), 338-349.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000082
- Bui, H., Zeng, Y., & Higgs, M. (2017). The role of person-job fit in the relationship between transformational leadership and job engagement. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 32(5), 373-386. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-05-2016-0144
- Caesens, G., Stinglhamber, F., Demoulin, S., & De Wilde, M. (2017). Perceived organizational support and employees' well-being: The mediating role of organizational dehumanization. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 26(4), 527-540. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2017.1319817
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Caretta, M. A. (2015). Member checking: A participatory method to test and analyze preliminary results in cross-cultural, cross-language research. *Qualitative**Research*, 16(3), 305 -318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115606495
- Carleton, E. L., Barling, J., & Trivisonno, M. (2018). Leaders' trait mindfulness and case

- of Usme in Bogota. *Suma de Negocios*, 7(15), 61-72. https://doi.org/10.1037/cbs0000103
- Carlsen, H. B., Ralund, S., & Toubol, J. (2020). The solidary relationship's consequences for the Ebb and flow of activism: Collaborative evidence from life-history interviews and social media event analysis. In *Sociological Forum*, *35*(3), 696-720. https://doi.org/10.1111/socf.12624
- Carter, W. R., Nesbit, P. L., Badham, R. J., Parker, S. K., & Sung, L. K. (2018). The effects of employee engagement and self-efficacy on job performance: A longitudinal field study. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(17), 2483-2502. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1244096
- Casett, E., Réus, J. C., Stuginski-Barbosa, J., Porporatti, A. L., Carra, M. C., Peres, M. A., de Luca Canto, G., & Manfredini, D. (2017). Validity of different tools to assess sleep bruxism: a meta-analysis. *Journal of oral rehabilitation*, 44(9), 722-734. https://doi.org/10.1111/joor.12520
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811-831. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/2
- Çelik, M. (2018). The effect of psychological capital level of employees on workplace stress and employee turnover intention. *Innovar*, 28(68), 67-75. https://doi.org/10.15446/innovar.v28n68.70472
- Cesário, F., & Chambel, M. J. (2017). Linking organizational commitment and work

- engagement to employee performance. *Knowledge and Process Management*, 24(2), 152-158. https://doi.org/10.1002/kpm.1542
- Charlier, S. D., Guay, R. P., & Zimmerman, R. D. (2016). Plugged in or disconnected? A model of the effects of technological factors on employee job embeddedness.

 Human Resource Management, 55(1), 109-126.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21716
- Chenoweth, L., & Lapkin, S. (2018). Personnel recruitment and retention in long-term elder care. *Cultures of Care in Aging*, 315-346.

 http://fandfonline.com/index.php/sebri
- Chiat, L. C., & Panatik, S. A. (2019). Perceptions of employee turnover intention by Herzberg's motivation-hygiene theory: A systematic literature review. review.

 Journal of Research in Psychology, 1(2), 10-15.

 https://doi.org/10.31580/jrp.v1i2.949
- Childs, B. R., Weidman, J. E., Farnsworth, C. B., & Christofferson, J. P. (2017). Use of personality profile assessments in the US commercial construction industry.
 International Journal of Construction Education and Research, 13(4), 267-283.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15578771.2016.1246493
- Chondrogiannis, E., Andronikou, V., Tagaris, A., Karanastasis, E., Varvarigou, T., & Tsuji, M. (2017). A novel semantic representation for eligibility criteria in clinical trials. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 69(1), 10-23.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2017.03.013
- Chopra, K. (2019). Indian shopper motivation to use artificial intelligence: Generating

- Vroom expectancy theory of motivation using grounded theory approach. *International Journal of Retail and Distribution Management*, 47, 331-347.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-11-2018-0251
- Choy, M. W., & Kamoche, K. (2021). Identifying stabilizing and destabilizing factors of job change: a qualitative study of employee retention in the Hong Kong travel agency industry. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 24(10), 1375-1388.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2020.1792853
- Coetzer, A., Inma, C., & Poisat, P. (2017). The job embeddedness-turnover relationship: Effects of organization size and workgroup cohesion. *Personnel Review*, 46(6), 1070-1088. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-12-2015-0312
- Collatto, D. C., Dresch, A., & Lacerda, D. P. (2018). Is action design research indeed necessary? Analysis and synergies between action research and design science research. *Systemic Practice and Action Research*, *31*(3), 239-267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11213-017-9424-9
- Cooper, G. S., & Meterko, V. (2019). Cognitive bias research in forensic science: a systematic review. *Forensic Science International*, 297, 35-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2019.01.016
- Cooper-Thomas, H. D., Xu, J., & Saks, A. M. (2018). The differential value of resources in predicting employee engagement. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *33*(5), 326-344. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-12-2017-0449
- Cumming, D., Henriques, I., & Sadorsky, P. (2016). Cleantech venture capital around the world. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, 44(1), 86-97.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2016.01.015

- Das, R. (2021). Employee provisions and benefits facilitating work-life balance: A study of the management staff of Nrl, Assam. *CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 12(3), 12-15. http://ijrcm.org.in
- Davidson, K., & Case, M. (2018). Building trust, elevating voices and sharing power in a family partnership. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 99(6), 49-53. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721718762423
- Davies, G., Mete, M., & Whelan, S. (2018). When employer brand image aids employee satisfaction and engagement. *Journal of Organizational Effectiveness: People and Performance*, 5(1), 64-80. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOEPP-03-2017-0028
- De Sousa Sabbagha, M., Ledimo, O., & Martins, N. (2018). Predicting staff retention from employee motivation and job satisfaction. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 28(2), 136-140. https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2018.1454578
- De Winne, S., Marescaux, E., Sels, L., Van Beveren, I., & Vanormelingen, S. (2018).

 The impact of employee turnover and turnover volatility on labor productivity: a flexible non-linear approach. *The International Journal of Human Resource*Management, 30(1), 3049-3079. http://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1449129
- DeBlaere, C., & Hesson-McInnis, M. (2016). Some Guidelines for publishing quantitative research in sex roles. *Sex Roles*, 74(1-2), 10-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-015-0569-7
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigor. *Family Medicine and Community*

- Health, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Dhir, S., & Shukla, A. (2018). The influence of personal and organizational characteristics on employee engagement and performance. *International Journal of Management Concepts and Philosophy*, 11(2), 117-131.

 https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMCP.2018.092321
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in Takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 521-528. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2016.2243
- Dixon-Fowler, H., O'Leary-Kelly, A., Johnson, J., & Waite, M. (2020). Sustainability and ideology-infused psychological contracts: An organizational-and employee-level perspective. *Human Resource Management Review*, *30*(3), 100690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2019.100690
- Doody, O., & Bailey, M. E. (2016). Setting a research question, aim and objective. *Nurse Researcher*, 23, 19-23. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.23.4.19.s5
- Draper, J. (2015). Ethnography: Principles, practice, and potential. *Nursing Standard*, 29, 36-41. https://doi/org/10.7748/ns.29.36.36.e8937
- Duong, L. N., Wang, J. X., Wood, L. C., Reiners, T., & Koushan, M. (2021). The value of incremental environmental sustainability innovation in the construction industry: an event study. *Construction Management and Economics*, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/01446193.2021.1901950
- Durdyev, S., Ismail, S., & Kandymov, N. (2018). Structural equation model of the factors affecting construction labor productivity. *Journal of Construction Engineering*

- and Management, 144(4), 04018007. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0001452
- Dutta, S., & Khatri, P. (2017). Servant leadership and positive organizational behavior:

 The road ahead to reduce employees turnover intentions. *On the Horizon*, 25(1), 60-82. https://doi.org/10.1108/OTH-06-2016-0029
- Eckardt, R., Skaggs, B. C., & Lepak, D. P. (2018). An examination of the firm-level performance impact of cluster hiring in knowledge-intensive firms. *Academy of Management Journal*, *61*, 919-944. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2016.0601
- Eisenberg, J., Post, C., & DiTomaso, N. (2019). Team dispersion and performance: The role of team communication and transformational leadership. *Small Group**Research, 50(3), 348-380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496419827376
- Eisenberger, R., Rockstuhl, T., Shoss, M. K., Wen, X., & Dulebohn, J. (2019). Is the employee–organization relationship dying or thriving? A temporal meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(8), 1036-1047.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000390
- Eliyana, A., & Ma'arif, S. (2019). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment effect in the transformational leadership toward employee performance. *European Research on Management and Business Economics*, 25(3), 144-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2019.05.001
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open*, 4(1), 1-10.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633

- Ernst, E., Merola, R., & Samaan, D. (2019). Economics of artificial intelligence:

 Implications for the future of work. *IZA Journal of Labor Policy*, 9(1), 1-35.

 https://doi.org/10.2478/izajolp-2019-0004
- Eversole, B. A., & Crowder, C. L. (2020). Toward a family-friendly academy: HRD's role in creating healthy work-life cultural change interventions. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 22(1), 11-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422319886287
- Fabling, R., & Grimes, A. (2014). The sweet smell of success: Personnel practices and firm performance. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 67, 1095-1126. https://doi.org/10.1177/0019793914546297
- Faisal, S., Naushad, M., & Faridi, M. (2020). A study on the level and relationship of job embeddedness and turnover intentions among Saudi Arabian working-class.

 Management Science Letters, 10(13), 3167-3172.

 https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.5.005
- Fallatah, F., Laschinger, H. K., & Read, E. A. (2017). The effects of authentic leadership, organizational identification, and occupational coping self-efficacy on new graduate nurses job turnover intentions in Canada. *Nursing Outlook*, 65(2), 172-183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2016.11.020
- Famiyeh, S., Amoatey, C. T., Adaku, E., & Agbenohevi, C. S. (2017). Major causes of construction time and cost overruns. *Journal of Engineering, Design and Technology*, 15(2), 181-198. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEDT-11-2015-0075
- Farrugia, B. (2019). WASP (write a scientific paper): Sampling in qualitative research.

- Early Human Development, 133, 69-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016
- Fassinger, R., & Morrow, S. L. (2013). Toward best practices in quantitative, qualitative, and mixed-methods research: A social justice perspective. *Journal for Social Action in Counseling and Psychology*, *5*, 69-83. http://jsacp.tumblr.com
- Ferreira, A. I., Martinez, L. F., Lamelas, J. P., & Rodrigues, R. I. (2017). Mediation of job embeddedness and satisfaction in the relationship between task characteristics and turnover: A multilevel study in Portuguese hotels. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(1), 248-267.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-03-2015-0126
- Filia, K. M., Jackson, H. J., Cotton, S. M., Gardner, A., & Killackey, E. J. (2018). What is social inclusion? A thematic analysis of professional opinion. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 41(3), 183-195. https://doi.org/10.1037/prj0000304
- Firmansyah, A., Maupa, H., Taba, I., & Hardiyono, H. (2020). The effect of work motivation, work environment, and work discipline on employees performance of Samsat Office, Makassar. *Hasanuddin Journal of Business Strategy*, 2(2), 72-78. https://doi.org/10.26487/hjbs.v2i2.336
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014
- Fletcher, D., De Massis, A., & Nordqvist, M. (2016). Qualitative research practices and family business scholarship: A review and future research agenda. *Journal of*

- Family Business Strategy, 7(1), 8-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2015.08.001
- Foss, N. J., & Hallberg, N. L. (2014). How symmetrical assumptions advance strategic management research. *Strategic Management Journal*, *35*(6), 903-913. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2130
- Fowler, L., & Birdsall, C. (2020). Are the best and brightest joining the public service? *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 40(3):532-554.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X19836152
- Franklin, A., Barbosa Neves, B., Hookway, N., Patulny, R., Tranter, B., & Jaworski, K. (2019). Towards an understanding of loneliness among Australian men: Gender cultures, embodied expression, and the social bases of belonging. *Journal of Sociology*, 55(1), 124-143. https://doi.org/10.1177/1440783318777309
- Frederiksen, A. (2017). Job satisfaction and employee turnover: A firm-level perspective.

 *German Journal of Human Resource Management, 31(2), 132-161.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2397002216683885
- Fu, G., Shen, R., & Wei, Y. (2020). The influence of emotional labor on turnover intention of hotel employees: Mediating effect of emotional dissonance. *Open Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 1089-1103.

 https://doi.org/10.4236/ojbm.2020.83069
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, *10*(1), 19-32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Ghasempour-Ganji, S. F., Johnson, L. W., Babazadeh Sorkhan, V., & Banejad, B. (2021).

The effect of employee empowerment, organizational support, and ethical climate on turnover intention: The mediating role of job satisfaction. *Iranian Journal of Management Studies*, 14(2), 311-329.

https://doi.org/10.22059/IJMS.2020.302333.674066

- Ghauri, P., Gronhaug, K., & Strange, R. (2020). Research methods in business studies.

 Cambridge University Press.
- Gilani, H., & Cunningham, L. (2017). Employer branding and its influence on employee retention: A literature review. *The Marketing Review*, *17*(2), 239-256. https://doi.org/10.1362/146934717X14909733966209
- Giri, A., Gangopadhyay, S., Majumder, J., & Paul, P. (2019). Model development for employee retention in the Indian construction industry using structural equation modeling (SEM). *International Journal of Civil Engineering and Technology*, 10(4), 196-204. http://www.iaeme.com/IJM/index.asp
- Gopinath, R. (2020). Emotional intelligence and job satisfaction of employees at Sago companies in Salem district: Relationship study. *Adalya Journal*, *9*(6), 203-217. https://doi.org/10.37896/aj9.6/023
- Gornig, M., Michelsen, C., & Pagenhardt, L. (2020). Construction industry an important pillar of the economy: Investment assistance taking effect. *DIW Weekly Report*, 10(1/2), 3-13. https://doi.org/10.18723/diw_dwr:2020-1-1
- Gould-Werth, A., Morrison, K., & Ben-Shalom, Y. (2018). Employers' perspectives on accommodating and retaining employees with newly acquired disabilities: An exploratory study. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 28(4), 611-633.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-018-9806-6

- Grego-Planer, D. (2019). The relationship between organizational commitment and organizational citizenship behaviors in the public and private sector.

 Sustainability, 11(22), 6395-63124. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11226395
- Guest, D. E. (2017). Human resource management and employee well-being: Towards a new analytic framework. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 27(1), 22-38. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12139
- Guest, G., Namey, E., Taylor, J., Eley, N., & McKenna, K. (2017). Comparing focus groups and individual interviews: Findings from a randomized study.

 *International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 20(6), 693-708.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1281601
- Gutiérrez, R., Márquez, P., & Reficco, E. (2016). Configuration and development of alliance portfolios: A comparison of same-sector and cross-sector partnerships.

 Journal of Business Ethics, 135(1), 55-69.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2729-7
- Haar, J. M., & White, B. J. (2013). Corporate entrepreneurship and information technology towards employee retention: A study of New Zealand firms. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 23(1), 109-125.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-8583.2011.00178.x
- Hammer, E. (2021). HRD interventions that offer a solution to the work-life conflict.

 *Advances in Developing Human Resources, 23(2), 142-152.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422321991192

- Hancock, M. E., Amankwaa, L., Revell, M. A., & Mueller, D. (2016). Focus group data saturation: A new approach to data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(11), 2124. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss11/13
- Hansen, J. A., & Pihl-Thingvad, S. (2019). Managing innovative employee behavior through transformational and transactional leadership styles. *Public Management Review*, 21(6), 918-944. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1544272
- Hansen, M., O'Brien, K., Meckler, G., Chang, A. M., & Guise, J. (2016). Understanding the value of mixed methods research: The children's safety initiative-emergency 97 medical services. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, *33*, 489-497. https://doi.org/10.1136/emermed-2015-205277
- Haque, A. U., Nair, S. L. S., & Kucukaltan, B. (2019). Management and administrative insight for the universities: High stress, low satisfaction, and no commitment.
 Polish Journal of Management Studies, 20(2), 236-255.
 https://doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2019.20.2.20
- Harden, G., Boakye, K. G., & Ryan, S. (2018). Turnover intention of technology professionals: A social exchange theory perspective. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 58(4), 291-300.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2016.1236356
- Harmon, R. B., DeGennaro, G., Norling, M., Kennedy, C., & Fontaine, D. (2018).
 Implementing healthy work environment standards in an academic workplace: An update. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 34(1), 20-24.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2017.06.001

- Harris, M. S., & Ellis, M. K. (2018). Exploring involuntary presidential turnover in American higher education. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 89(3), 294-317. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2017.1390969
- Harter, J. K., Schmidt, F. L., & Hayes, T. L. (2002). Business-unit-level relationship
 between employee satisfaction, employee engagement, and business outcomes: A
 meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(2), 268-289.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.2.268
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research and Method in Education*, 38(1), 23-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hayashi, P., Jr., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 98-112. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss1/8
- Heotis, E. (2020). Phenomenological research methods: Extensions of Husserl and Heidegger. *International Journal of School and Cognitive Psychology*, 7(2), 1-3. http://doi.org/10.35248/2469-9837.19.6.221
- Heryanto, H. (2019). The effect of work motivation and work environment on performance with satisfaction as intervening variables education personnel Rektorate Andalas University. *Archives of Business Research*, 7(2), 103-120. https://doi.org/10.14738/abr.72.5768
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2016). Qualitative or mixed methods research inquiry approaches: Some loose guidelines for publishing in Sex Roles. *Sex Roles*, 74, 6-9.

http://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-015-0568-8

- Ho, C. M. F., & Oladinrin, O. T. (2019). A paradigm shift in the implementation of ethics codes in construction organizations in Hong Kong: Towards an ethical behavior.
 Science and Engineering Ethics, 25, 559-581.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-018-0026-4
- Holston-Okae, B. L., & Mushi, R. J. (2018). Employee turnover in the hospitality industry using Herzberg's two-factor motivation-hygiene theory. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 8(1), 218-248. http://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i1/3805
- Hom, P. W., Lee, T. W., Shaw, J. D., & Hausknecht, J. P. (2017). One hundred years of employee turnover theory and research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 530-548. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000103
- Hopkins, J. L., & McKay, J. (2019). Investigating anywhere working as a mechanism for alleviating traffic congestion in smart cities. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *142*, 258-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.07.032
- Horvathova, J., & Mokrisova, M. (2020). Business competitiveness, its financial and economic parameters. *Montenegrin Journal of Economics*, *16*(1), 139-153. https://doi.org/10.14254/1800-5845/2020.16-1.9
- Hossain, M. U., & Poon, C. S. (2018). Comparative LCA of wood waste management strategies generated from building construction activities. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 177, 387-397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.12.233
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigor in qualitative case-study

- research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4) 12-17. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Huertas-Valdivia, I., Gallego-Burín, A. R., & Lloréns-Montes, F. J. (2019). Effects of different identification of conceptual and procedural knowledge for development.
 Within Innovation, 17, 100-109. https://doi.org/10.1177/1465750316648576
- Huning, T. M., Hurt, K. J., & Frieder, R. E. (2020). An empirical investigation is the effect of servant leadership, perceived organizational support, job satisfaction, and job embeddedness on turnover intentions. *Evidence-Based HRM*, 8(2), 177-194. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBHRM-06-2019-0049
- Hunt, R. A., & Hayward, M. L. (2018). Value creation through employer loans: Evidence of informal lending to employees at small, labor-intensive firms. *Organization Science*, 29 (2), 284-303. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2017.1182
- Hur, H., Maurer, J. A., & Hawley, J. (2019). The role of education, occupational match on job satisfaction in the behavioral and social science workforce. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 30(3), 407-435. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21343
- Hurrell, A., & Keiser, J. (2020). An exploratory examination of the impact of vacation policy structure on satisfaction, productivity, and profitability. *The BRC Academy Journal of Business* 10(1) 33–63. https://dx.doi.org/10.15239/j.brcacadjb.2020.10.01.ja02
- Hutagalung, D. J., & Adawiyah, R. (2019). The effect of job satisfaction and organizational commitment towards organizational citizenship behavior (OCB): A

- case study of one employee of local water company Tirta Mahakam Kutai Kartanegara Indonesia. *Jurnal Ekonomi Bisnis dan Kewirausahaan*, 8(3), 236-249. https://doi.org/10.26418/jebik.v8i3.35001
- Imamoglu, S. Z., Ince, H., Turkcan, H., & Atakay, B. (2019). The effect of organizational justice and organizational commitment on knowledge sharing and firm performance. *Procedia Computer Science*, *158*(1), 899-906.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2019.09.129
- Iqbal, S., Hongyun, T., Akhtar, S., Ahmad, U., & Ankomah, F. N. (2020). Impacts of supervisor support on turnover intentions: Mediating role of job satisfaction.
 Asian Journal of Education and Social Studies, 6(3), 1-9.
 https://doi.org/10.9734/ajess/2020/v6i330174
- Islam, T., Islam, R., Pitafi, A. H., Xiaobei, L., Rehmani, M., Irfan, M., & Mubarak, M. S. (2021). The impact of corporate social responsibility on customer loyalty: The mediating role of corporate reputation, customer satisfaction, and trust.
 Sustainable Production and Consumption, 25, 123-135.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.07.019
- Jabbar, M. N., Mahmood, W., & Qambar, G. (2020). Mediating role of organizational commitment and work environment on the relationship between transformational leadership and job satisfaction. *Journal of Talent Development and Excellence*, 12(2), 3974-3988. http://www.iratde.com
- Jehanzeb, K., & Mohanty, J. (2018). Impact of employee development on job satisfaction and organizational commitment: Person–organization fit as moderator.

- International Journal of Training and Development, 22(3), 171-191. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12127
- Jeon, L., & Wells, M. (2018). An organizational-level analysis of early childhood teachers' job attitudes: Workplace satisfaction affects early head start and head start teacher turnover. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 47, 563-581.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-018-9444-3
- Jeong, S., Bailey, J. M., Lee, J., & McLean, G. N. (2020). It is not about me; it is about us: A narrative inquiry on living life as a social entrepreneur. *Social Enterprise Journal*, 16(3), 263-280. https://doi.org/10.1108/SEJ-05-2019-0030
- Jobin, A., Ienca, M., & Vayena, E. (2019). The global landscape of AI ethics guidelines.

 Nature Machine Intelligence, 1(9), 389-399.

 https://doi.org/10.1038/s42256-019-0088-2
- Johnson, C. (2020). Why improving employee and manager relationships is vital to boost engagement. *Strategic HR Review*, *19*(2), 67-70. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-01-2020-0003
- Johnson, J., Hall, L. H., Berzins, K., Baker, J., Melling, K., & Thompson, C. (2018).

 Mental healthcare staff well-being and burnout: A narrative review of trends, causes, implications, and recommendations for future interventions. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 27(1), 20-32.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12416
- Jørgensen, M., Dybå, T., Liestøl, K., & Sjøberg, D. I. (2016). Incorrect results in software engineering experiments: How to improve research practices. *Journal of Systems*

- and Software, 116, 133-145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2015.03.065
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(6), 1043-1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Ju, B., & Li, J. (2019). Exploring the impact of training, job tenure, and education-job and skills-job matches on employee turnover intention. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 43(4), 214-231.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-05-2018-0045
- Jufri, M., Jalal, N. M., Aras, M., & Asri, A. (2018). The effect of psychological contracts and organizational commitments to the performance of employees. *In 1st International Conference on Social Sciences*. 1189-1194.

 https://doi.org/10.2991/icss-18.2018.250
- Jung, H. S., & Yoon, H. H. (2017). Error management culture and turnover intent among food and beverage employees in deluxe hotels: The mediating effect of job satisfaction. *Service Business*, 11(4), 785-802.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11628-016-0330-5
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A. M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954-2965.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031
- Kalu, M. E. (2019). How does "subjective I" influence a qualitative research question, theoretical approach and methodologies? *Global Journal of Pure and Applied*

- Sciences, 25(1), 97-101. https://doi.org/10.4314/gjpas.v25i1.13
- Kang, M., & Sung, M. (2019). To leave or not to leave: the effects of perceptions of organizational justice on employee turnover intention via employee-organization relationship and employee job engagement. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 31(5-6), 152-175. https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2019.1680988
- Karasakaloglu, N. (2018). Grammar attitude scale: A study of validity and reliability. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 14(5), 14-21.

 https://doi.org/10.29329/ijpe.2018.157.2
- Karman, A. (2020). Understanding sustainable human resource management—
 organizational value linkages: The strength of the SHRM system. *Human Systems Management*, 39(1), 51-68. https://doi.org/10.3233/HSM-190602
- Kasmuri, S. H. M., Ismail, Z., Nordin, R. M., & Hashim, N. (2020). Towards quality of life in construction industry: Identification of employee turnover antecedents.
 Asian Journal of Environment-Behaviour Studies, 5(17), 63-82.
 https://doi.org/10.21834/ajebs.v5i17.376
- Kay, M. C., & Kucera, K. L. (2018). Mixed methods designs for sports medicine research. *Clinics in Sports Medicine*, 37(3), 401-412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csm.2018.03.005
- Keller, S. B., Ralston, P. M., & LeMay, S. A. (2020). Quality output, workplace environment, and employee retention: The positive influence of emotionally intelligent supply chain managers. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 41(4), 337-355. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12258

- Kelly, L. A., Johnson, K. L., Bay, R. C., & Todd, M. (2021). Key elements of the critical care work environment associated with burnout and compassion satisfaction.
 American Journal of Critical Care, 30(2), 113-120.
 https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2021775
- Kennedy, E., & Daim, T. U. (2010). A strategy to assist management in workforce engagement and employee retention in the high-tech engineering environment. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 33(4), 468-476.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2009.12.001
- Khuwaja, U., Ahmed, K., Abid, G., & Adeel, A. (2020). Leadership and employee attitudes: The mediating role of perception of organizational politics. *Cogent Business and Management*, 7(1), 1-21.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.1720066
- Kiende, C. K., Mukulu, E., & Odhiambo, R. (2019). Influence of organization innovation on the performance of small and medium women-owned enterprises in Kenya.

 Journal of Entrepreneurship and Project Management, 3(1), 33-49.

 http://www.stratfordjournals.org
- Kim, W. (2017). Examining mediation effects of work engagement among job resources, job performance, and turnover intention. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 29(4), 407-425. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21235
- Kooij, D. T., & Boon, C. (2017). Perceptions of HR practices, person-organization fit, and affective commitment: the moderating role of career stage. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 28 (1), 61-75. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12164

- Koontz, A. (2021). The construction of distinctly American Art and Elitism: The people, moments, and actions that have shaped US arts as we know them. *Contemporary Sociology*, *50*(1), 11-16. https://doi.org/10.1177/0094306120976389b
- Kör, B., Wakkee, I., & van der Sijde, P. (2021). How to promote managers innovative behavior at work: Individual factors and perceptions. *Technovation*, 99(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2020.102127
- Kryscynski, D. (2021). Firm-specific worker incentives, employee retention, and wage—tenure slopes. *Organization Science*, *32*(2), 352-375.

 https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2020.1393
- Kundu, S. C., & Lata, K. (2017). Effects of supportive work environment on employee retention. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 25(4), 703-722. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-12-2016-1100
- Kurdi, B., Alshurideh, M., & Afaishat, T. (2020). Employee retention and organizational performance: Evidence from the banking industry. *Management Science Letters*, 10(16), 3981-3990. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.7.011
- Kurniawan, H., & Heryanto, H. (2019). Effect of work discipline and work environment on employee performance with work motivation as an intervening variable in the department of tourism, youth, and sport of Padang district. *Archives of Business Research*, 7(7), 88-101. https://doi.org/10.14738/abr.77.6639
- Kurniawaty, K., Ramly, M., & Ramlawati, R. (2019). The effect of work environment, stress, and job satisfaction on employee turnover intention. *Management Science Letters*, 9(6), 877-886. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.3.001

- Lamare, J. R., & Lipsky, D. B. (2019). Resolving discrimination complaints in employment arbitration: An analysis of the experience in the securities industry. *ILR Review*, 72(1), 158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0019793917747520
- Laumann, K. (2020). Criteria for qualitative methods in human reliability analysis.

 *Reliability Engineering and System Safety, 194, 106198

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2018.07.001
- Lee, T. W., Hom, P., Eberly, M., & Li, J. (2018). Managing employee retention and turnover with 21st-century ideas. *Organizational Dynamics*, 47(2), 88-98. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2017.08.004
- Lee, Y., & Li, J. Y. Q. (2020). The value of internal communication in enhancing employees' health information disclosure intentions in the workplace. *Public relations review*, 46(1), 101872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.101872
- Lemon, L. L., & Hayes, J. (2020). Enhancing trustworthiness of qualitative findings:

 Using Leximancer for qualitative data analysis triangulation. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(3), 604-614. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol25/iss3/3
- Levitt, H. M. (2018). How to conduct a qualitative meta-analysis: Tailoring methods to enhance methodological integrity. *Psychotherapy Research*, 28(3), 367-378. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503307.2018.1447708
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*(4), 473-475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941
- Li, F., Chen, T., & Lai, X. (2018). How does a reward for creativity program benefit or

- frustrate employee creative performance? The perspective of transactional model of stress and coping. *Group & Organization Management*, *43*(1):138-175. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601116688612
- Li, N., Zhang, L., Xiao, G., Chen, J., & Lu, Q. (2019). The relationship between workplace violence, job satisfaction, and turnover intention in emergency nurses. *International Emergency Nursing*, 45, 50-55.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2019.02.001
- Ling, F. Y. Y., Ning, Y., Chang, Y. H., & Zhang, Z. (2018). Human resource management practices to improve project managers job satisfaction. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, 25(5), 654-669.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-02-2017-0030
- Link, K., & Müller, B. (2015). Delegating HR work to the line: Emerging tensions and insights from a paradox perspective. *German Journal of Human Resource*Management, 29, 280-302. https://doi.org/10.1177/239700221502900307
- Lloyd, R. A., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of expectancy theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, *14*(1), 28-43. http://www.americanscholarspress.us/journals
- Loan, L. (2020). The influence of organizational commitment on employees' job performance: The mediating role of job satisfaction. *Management Science Letters*, 10(14), 3307-3312. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.6.007
- Lockwood, N. R. (2007). Leveraging employee engagement for competitive advantage.

 Society for Human Resource Management Research Quarterly, 1(1), 1-12.

https://www.longdom.org

- Lueg, R., & Radlach, R. (2016). Managing sustainable development with management control systems: A literature review. *European Management Journal*, *34*(2), 158-171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2015.11.005
- Luo, J., Fan, M., & Zhang, H. (2015). Information technology, cross-channel capabilities, and managerial actions: Evidence from the apparel industry. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems, Forthcoming*, *17*(5) 308-327.

 https://ssrn.com/abstract=2849604
- Lyu, Y., & Zhu, H. (2019). The predictive effects of workplace ostracism on employee attitudes: A job embeddedness perspective. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *158*(4), 1083-1095. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3741-x
- Ma, L., & Fu, H. (2020). Exploring the influence of project complexity on the mega construction project success: A qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) method. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, 27(9), 2429-2449. https://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-12-2019-0679
- Mackay, M. M., Allen, J. A., & Landis, R. S. (2017). Investigating the incremental validity of employee engagement in the prediction of employee effectiveness: A meta-analytic path analysis. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(1), 108-120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.03.002
- Madariaga, R., Oller, R., & Martori, J. C. (2018). Discrete choice and survival models in employee turnover analysis. *Employee Relations*, 40(2),381-395. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-03-2017-0058

- Maier, M. A., & Brem, A. (2018). What innovation managers really do: A multiple-case investigation into the informal role profiles of innovation managers. *Review of Managerial Science*, *12*(4), 1055-1080.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-017-0238-z
- Manoela, Z. D. O., Francielle, M. B., & William, B. G. (2016). Validity evidence for the turnover and attachment motives survey (TAMS) in a Brazilian sample. *Paideía*, 26, 333-342. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-43272665201604
- Mariam, S. (2019). The effect of leverage on corporate values with profitability as intervening variables in textile and garment manufacturing companies which are listed in Indonesia Stock Exchange (Idx). *Business and Entrepreneurial Review*, 19(2), 169-180. http://doi.org/10.25105/ber.v19i2.5700
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing Qualitative Research*. SAGE, Thousand Oaks.
- Massingham, P. R. (2018). Measuring the impact of knowledge loss: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 22(4), 721-758. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-08-2016-0338
- Matongolo, A., Kasekende, F., & Mafabi, S. (2018). Employer branding and talent retention: perceptions of employees in higher education institutions in Uganda. *Industrial and Commercial Training*. 50(5), 217-233.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-03-2018-0031
- Matthews, G. (2018). Employee engagement: What is your strategy? *Strategic HR Review*, 17(3),150-154. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-03-2018-0025

- Maurya, C. D., & Sharma, A. K. (2017). The role of managerial skills in the success of an organization. *CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce and Management*, 8(6), 12-14. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031119
- Maynard, B. R., Vaughn, M. G., & Sarteschi, C. M. (2014). The empirical status of social work dissertation research: Characteristics, trends, and implications for the field.

 The British Journal of Social Work, 44, 267-289.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcs123
- Mbhele, S. (2017). *Internal communication in achieving employee engagement within a*South African government department (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria). http://hdl.handle.net/2263/60508
- McAlpine, L. (2016). Why might you use narrative methodology? A story about narrative. *Eesti Haridusteaduste Ajakiri. Estonian Journal of Education*, *4*(1), 32-57. https://doi.org/10.12697/eha.2016.4.1.02b
- McDermott, R., & Hatemi, P. K. (2020). Ethics in field experimentation: A call to establish new standards to protect the public from unwanted manipulation and real harms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(48), 30014-30021. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2012021117
- Meharunisa, S. (2019). Work-life balance and job stress among female faculties in India's higher education institutions. *International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering*, 8(2S11), 846–852.

https://doi.org/10.35940/ijrte.B1139.0982S1119

Men, L. R., & Yue, C. A. (2019). Creating a positive emotional culture: Effect of internal

- communication and impact on employee supportive behaviors. *Public Relations Review*, 45(3), 101764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.03.001
- Messersmith, J. G., Kim, K. Y., & Patel, P. C. (2018). Pulling in different directions?

 Exploring the relationship between vertical pay dispersion and high-performance work systems. *Human Resource Management*, *57*(1), 127-143.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21846
- Michalak, R. T., & Ashkanasy, N. M. (2020). Working with monsters: Counting the costs of workplace psychopaths and other toxic employees. *Accounting and Finance*, 60(51), 729-770. https://doi.org/10.1111/acfi.12369
- Mills, K. A. (2018). What are the threats and potentials of big data for qualitative research? *Qualitative Research*, 18(6), 591-603. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117743465
- Mitchell, T. R., & Lee, T. W. (2001). 5. The unfolding model of voluntary turnover and job embeddedness: Foundations for a comprehensive theory of attachment.

 Research in Organizational Behavior, 23, 189-246.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0191-3085(01)23006-8
- Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., Lee, T. W., Sablynski, C. J., & Erez, M. (2001). Why people stay: Using job embeddedness to predict voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(6), 1102-1121. https://doi.org/10.5465/3069391
- Mkamwa, T. (2020). The role of well-being on the impact of high-performance work systems on physicians' job burnout. *Journal of Economics and Business*, *3*(1). 1-13. https://doi.org/10.31014/aior.1992.03.01.186

- Modau, F. D., Dhanpat, N., Lugisani, P., Mabojane, R., & Phiri, M. (2018). Exploring employee retention and intention to leave within a call center. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *16*(1), 1-13.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.905
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment, and People*, 7(1), 23-48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Mölders, S., Brosi, P., Spörrle, M., & Welpe, I. M. (2019). The effect of top management trustworthiness on turnover intentions via negative emotions: the moderating role of gender. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*(4), 957-969.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3600-9
- Molina-Arizona, J. F. (2016). Mixed methods research: An opportunity to improve our studies and our research skills. *European Journal of Management and Economics*, 25, 37-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redeen.2016.05.001
- Monroe, M., Morse, E., & Price, J. M. (2020). The relationship between critical care work environment and professional quality of life. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 29(2), 145-149. https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2020406
- Moon, K. K. (2017). Voluntary turnover rates and organizational performance in the US federal government: The moderating role of high-commitment human resource practices. *Public Management Review*, *19*(10), 1480-1499.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2017.1287940
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and

- legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004
- Mora, Z., Suharyanto, A., & Yahya, M. (2020). Effect of work safety and work healthy towards employees productivity in PT. Sisirau Aceh Tamiang. *Burns*, 2(1), 753-760. https://doi.org/10.33258/birci.v3i2.887
- Moreno, S. E. C. (2016). Female entrepreneurship in a forced displacement situation: The case of Usme in Bogota. *Suma de Negocios*, 7(15), 61-72. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.sumneg.2016.02.004
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Data were saturated. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(5), 587-588 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315576699
- Moshood, T. D., Nawanir, G., & Mahmud, F. (2021). Sustainability of biodegradable plastics: a review on social, economic, and environmental factors. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2021.1973954
- Mousa, M., Puhakka, V., & Abdelgaffar, H. A. (2019). Climate change, responsible leadership, and organizational commitment. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*, *30*(5), 945-962. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEQ-11-2018-0198
- Moustakas, C. E. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. SAGE Publications.
- Mowday, R. T., Steers, R. M., & Porter, L. P. (1979). The measurement of organizational commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *14*(0), 224-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(79)90072-1
- Mueller, R. A. (2019). Episodic narrative interview: Capturing stories of experience with

- a methods fusion. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919866044
- Mujere, N. (2016). Sampling in research. *In Mixed Methods Research for Improved Scientific Study*, 107-121. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-0007-0.ch006
- Mulki, J., & Lassk, F. G. (2019). Joint impact of ethical climate and external work locus of control on job meaningfulness. *Journal of Business Research*, 99, 46-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.02.007
- Murray, W. C., & Holmes, M. R. (2021). Impacts of employee empowerment and organizational commitment on workforce sustainability. *Sustainability*, 13(6),3163. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13063163
- Nagy, E., Ransiek, A., Schäfer, M., Lux, A., Bergmann, M., Jahn, T., Marg, O., & Theiler, L. (2020). Transfer as a reciprocal process: How to foster receptivity to results of transdisciplinary research. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 104, 148-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2019.11.007
- Natow, R. S. (2020). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 20(2), 160-173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077
- Nawaz-Khan, A., Khan, N. A., & Soomro, M. A. (2020). Influence of ethical leadership in managing human resources in construction companies. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, *146*(11), 1-15.

 https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0001919
- Naz, S., Li, C., Nisar, Q. A., & Rafiq, M. (2019). Linking emotional intelligence to

- knowledge sharing behaviour: Mediating role of job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Middle East Journal of Management*, *6*(3), 318-340. https://doi.org/10.1504/MEJM.2019.098598
- Naz, S., Li, C., Nisar, Q. A., Khan, M. A. S., Ahmad, N., & Anwar, F. (2020). A Study in the relationship between supportive work environment and employee retention:
 Role of organizational commitment and person-organization fit as mediators.
 SAGE Open, 10(2), 1-20 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020924694
- Newman, C., Edwards, D., Martek, I., Lai, J., Thwala, W. D., & Rillie, I. (2020). Industry
 4.0 deployment in the construction industry: A bibliometric literature review and
 UK-based case study. *Smart and Sustainable Built Environment*, 10(4), 557-580.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/SASBE-02-2020-0016
- Ng, L. T., & Rivera, J. R. (2018). Exploring transformational leadership and fellowship in a cultural context: The case of the Philippines. *Asia-Pacific Social Science Review*, 17, 136-141. https://www.researchgate.net/
- Nguyen, M. C., Gabbe, S. G., Kemper, K. J., Mahan, J. D., Cheavens, J. S., & Moffatt-Bruce, S. D. (2020). Training on mind-body skills: Feasibility and effects on physician mindfulness, compassion, and associated effects on stress, burnout, and clinical outcomes. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *15*(2), 194-207. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2019.1578892
- Nguyen, M. T., & Khoa, B. T. (2020). Improving the competitiveness of exporting enterprises: A case of Kien Giang province in Vietnam. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics, and Business*, 7(6), 495-508.

https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2020.vol7.no6.495

- Nguyen, N. T. (2020). Performance evaluation in strategic alliances: A case of the Vietnamese construction industry. *Global Journal of Flexible Systems*Management, 21(1), 85-99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40171-019-00230-9
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. http://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Norman, R. M., & Sjetne, I. S. (2017). Measuring nurse perception of work environment: a scoping review of questionnaires. *BMC Nursing*, *16*(1), 66-79. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-017-0256-9
- Nur, F., Harrison, D., Deb, S., Burch V, R. F., & Strawderman, L. (2021). Identification of interventions to improve employee morale in physically demanding repetitive motion work tasks: A pilot case study. *Cogent Engineering*, 8(1), 1914287.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2021.1914287
- Nursaid, N., Qomariah, N., Sanosra, A., Satoto, E. B., & Utomo, A. W. (2020).

 Improvement of job satisfaction based on work motivation, work environment, competence, and compensation for hospital employees. *Indonesian Journal of Law and Economics Review*, 7(0), 10-21.

 https://doi.org/10.21070/IJLER.2020.V7.461
- Obedgiu, V. (2017). Human resource management, historical perspectives, evolution, and professional development. *Journal of Management Development*, *36*(8), 986-990. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-12-2016-0267
- Omar, M. S., Rafie, N., & Selo, S. A. (2020). Job satisfaction influences job performance

- among polytechnic employees. *International Journal of Modern Trends in Social Sciences*, *3*(14), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.35631/IJMTSS.314003
- Omari, G. C., Manyele, S. V., & Mwaluko, G. (2019). Analysis of measured employee absenteeism in the forensic science laboratory. *Engineering*, 11(3), 137-166. https://doi.org/10.4236/eng.2019.113012
- Onuko, C., & Onyango, J. (2020). Influence of talent management practices on service delivery of doctors in Nairobi, Kenya: A descriptive research study. *Research Square*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.2.22523/v1
- Osborne, S., & Hammoud, M. S. (2017). Effective employee engagement in the workplace. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, *16*(1), 50-67. https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.04
- Oyewobi, L. O., Oke, A. E., Adeneye, T. D., & Jimoh, R. A. (2019). Influence of organizational commitment on work-life balance and organizational performance of female construction professionals. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*. 26(10), 2243-2263.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-07-2018-0277
- Pakurár, M., Haddad, H., Popp, J., Khan, T., & Oláh, J. (2019). Supply chain integration, organizational performance, and balanced scorecard: An empirical study of the banking sector in Jordan. *Journal of International Studies*, *12*(2), 129-146. https://doi.org/10.14254/2071-8330.2019/12-2/8
- Pang, D., & Ruch, W. (2019). Fusing character strengths and mindfulness interventions:

 Benefits for job satisfaction and performance. *Journal of Occupational Health*

- Psychology, 24(1), 150-162. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000144
- Pang, K., & Lu, C. S. (2018). Organizational motivation, employee job satisfaction and organizational performance: An empirical study of container shipping companies in Taiwan. *Maritime Business Review*, *3*(1), 36-52.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/MABR-03-2018-0007
- Paoline, E. A., III., & Gau, J. M. (2020). An empirical assessment of the sources of police job satisfaction. *Police Quarterly*, 23(1), 55-81.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098611119875117
- Park, C. J., Kim, S. Y., & Nguyen, M. V. (2021). Fuzzy TOPSIS Application to rank determinants of employee retention in construction companies: South Korean case. *Sustainability*, *13*(11), 5787. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13115787
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Park, O., Bae, J., & Hong, W. (2019). High-commitment HRM system, HR capability, and ambidextrous technological innovation. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(9), 1526-1548. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1296880
- Parmer, L. L., & Dillard, J. E., Jr. (2018). The way employees are treated predict power feelings. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(1), 2-16. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-08-2018-0312
- Pattnaik, S. C., & Panda, N. (2020). Supervisor support, work engagement and turnover

- intentions: Evidence from Indian call centers. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 14(5), 621-635. https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-08-2019-026
- Pearse, N. (2019). An illustration of a deductive pattern matching procedure in qualitative leadership research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 17(3), 143-154. https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.17.3.004
- Pellegrini, C., Rizzi, F., & Frey, M. (2018). The role of sustainable human resource practices in influencing employee behavior for corporate sustainability. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 27(8), 1221-1232. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2064
- Peltokorpi, V., Feng, J., Pustovit, S., Allen, D. G., & Rubenstein, A. L. (2022). The interactive effects of socialization tactics and work locus of control on newcomer work adjustment, job embeddedness, and voluntary turnover. *Human Relations*, 75(1), 177-202. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0018726720986843
- Pérez-Rodríguez, V., Topa, G., & Beléndez, M. (2019). Organizational justice and work stress: The mediating role of negative, but not positive, emotions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *151*(1), 109392-109421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.04.047
- Perrenoud, A. J. (2020). Delphi approach to identifying best practices for succession planning within construction firms. *International Journal of Construction Education and Research*, *16*(3), 197-210.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15578771.2018.1544950
- Persad, A. (2020). Strategies to Retain Skilled Assistant Project Managers in construction Industries (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from Dissertations and

- Theses database. (UMI No. 28155163)
- Pires, M. L. (2018). Working conditions and organizational support influence on satisfaction and performance. *European Journal of Applied Business*Management, 162-186. https://nidisag.isag.pt/index.php/IJAM/article/view/369
- Platt, L. F., & Skowron, E. A. (2013). The family genogram interview: Reliability and validity of a new interview protocol. *The Family Journal*, 21(1), 35-45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1066480712456817
- Poole, A. (2020). Narrative inquiry and relational ethics: negotiating the lived experiences of international school teachers in China. *International Journal of Research and Method in Education*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2020.1755247
- Porter, C. M., & Rigby, J. R. (2020). The turnover contagion process: An integrative review of theoretical and empirical research. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 42(2), 212-228. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2483
- Putra, R. A., Candana, D. M., & Krisna, N. L. (2020). The effect of career development and organizational commitment on employee performance with job satisfaction as a moderating variable in PT. P & P LEMBAH KARET. *Dinasti International Journal of Management Science*, 2(2), 268-277.

 https://doi.org/10.31933/dijms.v2i2.612
- Putri, K. M. T. U., & Adnyani, I. G. A. D. (2021). The effect of reward system, job motivation, and job satisfaction on employee retention. *American Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences Research*, 5(6), 58-65. https://www.ajhssr.com

- Putri, W. H., & Setianan, A. R. (2019). Job enrichment, organizational commitment, and intention to quit: The mediating role of employee engagement. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 17(2), 518.

 http://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.17(2).2019.40
- Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*. 3(9) 132-140. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.887089
- Rahman, S. M. (2020). Relationship between job satisfaction and turnover intention:

 Evidence from Bangladesh. *Asian Business Review*, 10(2), 99-108.

 https://doi.org/10.18034/abr.v10i2.470
- Rai, A., & Maheshwari, S. (2020). Exploring the mediating role of work engagement between the linkages of job characteristics with organizational engagement and job satisfaction. *Management Research Review*, 44(1), 133-157. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-10-2019-0442
- Ramalho-Luz, C. M. D., Luiz de Paula, S., & de Oliveira, L. M. B. (2018).

 Organizational commitment, job satisfaction and their possible influences on intent to turnover. *Revista de Gestão*, 25(1), 84-101.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/REGE-12-2017-008
- Ramlawati, R., Trisnawati, E., Yasin, N., & Kurniawaty, K. (2021). External alternatives, job stress on job satisfaction and employee turnover intention. *Management Science Letters*, 11(2), 511-518. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.9.016
- Ramli, A. H. (2019). Work environment, job satisfaction, and employee performance in

- health services. *Business and Entrepreneurial Review*, *19*(1), 29-42. https://doi.org/10.25105/ber.v19i1.5343
- Rao, M. S. (2017). Innovative tools and techniques to ensure effective employee engagement. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 49(3), 127-131. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2016-0037
- Rastogi, M., Rangnekar, S., & Rastogi, R. (2018). Psychometric evaluation of need-based quality of work-life scale in an Indian sample. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 50(1), 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2017-0041
- Rawashdeh, A. (2018). The impact of green human resource management on organizational environmental performance in Jordanian health service organizations. *Management Science Letters*, 8(10), 1049-1058. http://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2018.7.006
- Rio, J. H., Fuller, J., Taylor, K., & Muir-Cochrane, E. (2021). The impact of workplace culture on the accountability of mental health nurses to involve consumers in care planning: A focused ethnography. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 23(1), 255-262. https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12807
- Riyanto, S., Endri, E., & Herlisha, N. (2021). Effect of work motivation and job satisfaction on employee performance: Mediating role of employee engagement.

 Problems and Perspectives in Management, 19(3), 162-174.

 http://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.19(3).2021.14
- Rodrigues, R., Butler, C. L., & Guest, D. (2020). Evaluating the employability paradox:

 When does organizational investment in human capital pay off? *The International*

- Journal of Human Resource Management, 31(9), 1134-1156. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1704825
- Roscoe, S., Subramanian, N., Jabbour, C. J., & Chong, T. (2019). Green human resource management and the enablers of green organizational culture: Enhancing a firm's environmental performance for sustainable development. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 28(5), 737-749. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2277
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432-451.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Rothman, N. B., Pratt, M. G., Rees, L., & Vogus, T. J. (2017). Understanding the dual nature of ambivalence: Why and when ambivalence leads to good and bad outcomes. *Academy of Management Annals*, 11(1), 33-72. https://doi.org/10.5465/annals.2014.0066
- Saks, A. M. (2019). Antecedents and consequences of employee engagement revisited.

 **Journal of Organizational Effectiveness: People and Performance, 6(1), 19-38.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JOEPP-06-2018-0034
- Salas-Vallina, A., Alegre, J., & López-Cabrales, Á. (2021). The challenge of increasing employees' well-being and performance: How human resource management practices and engaging leadership work together toward reaching this goal.

 Human Resource Management, 60(3), 333-347.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.22021

- Salminen, H., & Miettinen, M. (2019). The role of perceived development opportunities on affective organizational commitment of older and younger nurses.

 *International Studies of Management and Organization, 49(1), 63-78.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00208825.2019.1565094
- Sandhya, S., & Sulphey, M. M. (2020). Influence of empowerment, psychological contract, and employee engagement on voluntary turnover intentions.

 *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 70(2), 325-349. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-04-2019-0189
- Sang, L., Xia, D., Ni, G., Cui, Q., Wang, J., & Wang, W. (2019). Influence mechanism of job satisfaction and positive affect on knowledge sharing among project members:
 Moderator role of organizational commitment. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, 27(1), 245-269.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-10-2018-0463
- Sant, E. (2019). Democratic education: A theoretical review (2006–2017). *Review of Educational Research*, 89(5), 655-696. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654319862493
- Santhanam, N., Kumar, J. R., Kumar, V., & Saha, R. (2021). Employee turnover intention in the milieu of human resource management practices: Moderating role of work-life balance. *International Journal of Business Innovation and Research*, 24(1), 57-75.

https://www.inderscienceonline.com/doi/abs/10.1504/IJBIR.2021.111979

Santosa, S., & Mubarok, S. Z. S. (2020). The effect of organizational commitment, work

- compensation, and work environment on the employee performance of Baitul Maal Wa Tamwil. *Issues on Inclusive Growth in Developing Countries*, *1*(1), 22-30. http://journal.iseisolo.org/
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornill, A. (2019). *Research methods for business students* (8th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Scanlan, J. N., & Still, M. (2019). Relationships between burnout, turnover intention, job satisfaction, job demands and job resources for mental health personnel in an Australian mental health service. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3841-z
- Schwarzmüller, T., Brosi, P., Duman, D., & Welpe, I. M. (2018). How does the digital transformation affect organizations? Key themes of change in work design and leadership. *Mrev Management Revue*, 29(2), 114-138.

 https://doi.org/10.5771/0935-9915-2018-2-114
- Scott, J., Waite, S., & Reede, D. (2021). Voluntary employee turnover: A literature review and evidence-based, user-centered strategies to improve retention. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, *18*(3), 442-450.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2020.09.056
- Seifert, M., Brockner, J., Bianchi, E. M., & Moon, H. (2016). How workplace fairness affects employee commitments. *MIT Solan Management Review*, *57*(2), 15-17. https://sloanreview.mit.edu/
- Sembiring, N., Nimran, U., Astuti, E. S., & Utami, H. N. (2020). The effects of emotional intelligence and organizational justice on job satisfaction, caring climate, and

criminal investigation officers' performance. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 28(5), 1113-1130. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-10-2019-1908

- Setiyanto, A. I., & Natalia, N. (2017). Impact of work environment on employee productivity in shipyard manufacturing company. *Journal of Applied Accounting and Taxation*, 2(1), 31-36. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1306537
- Shaikh, F. A., Shahbaz, M. S., Din, S. U., & Odhano, N. (2020). The role of collaboration and integration in the supply chain of the construction industry. *Civil Engineering Journal*, 6(7), 1300-1313. https://doi.org/10.28991/cej-2020-03091549
- Shao, J. J., & Ariss, A. A. (2020). Knowledge transfer between self-initiated expatriates and their organizations: Research propositions for managing SIEs. *International Business Review*, 29(1), 101634-101639.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2019.101634
- Shareef, R. A., & Atan, T. (2019). The influence of ethical leadership on academic employees organizational citizenship behavior and turnover intention.

 Management Decision, 57(3), 583-605.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-08-2017-0721
- Shaw, J. D., Delery, J. E., Jenkins, G. D., Jr., & Gupta, N. (1998). An organization-level analysis of voluntary and involuntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 41(5), 511-525. https://doi.org/10.5465/256939
- Sheehan, C., Tham, T. L., Holland, P., & Cooper, B. (2019). Psychological contract fulfillment, engagement, and nurse professional turnover intention. *International*

- Journal of Manpower, 40(1), 2-16. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-08-2017-0211
- Shepherd, W. J., Ployhart, R. E., & Kautz, J. (2020). The neglected role of collective customer perceptions in shaping collective employee satisfaction, service climate, voluntary turnover, and involuntary turnover: A cautionary note. *Journal of Applied Psychology, 105*(11), 1327-1337. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000480
- Shibiti, R. (2019). Satisfaction with retention factors in relation to Job embeddedness of public school teachers. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *17*(1), 1-9. https://hdl.handle.net/10520/EJC-1fa65ee9d8
- Shuang, D., Heng, L., Skitmore, M., & Qin, Y. (2019). An experimental study of intrusion behaviors on construction sites: The role of age and gender. *Safety Science*, 115, 425-434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2019.02.035
- Sileyew, K. J. (2019). Research design and methodology. *In Cyberspace*. *IntechOpen*. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.78 887
- Silviana, N. (2021). Employee performance assessed from turnover, work conflict, and the working environment. *Almana: Jurnal Manajemen dan Bisnis*, *5*(1), 59-63. https://doi.org/10.36555/almana.v5i1.1538
- Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). The sample size debate:

 Response to Norman Blaikie. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 21(5), 643-646. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454642
- Singh, S., Darwish, T. K., & Potočnik, K. (2016). Measuring organizational performance:

 A case for subjective measures. *British Journal of Management*, 27(1), 214-224.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12126

- Small Business Administration. (2016). *Advocacy: The voice of small business in government*. http://www.sba.gov
- Small Business Administration. (2018). 2018 Small business profile.

 https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/2018-Small-Business-Profiles-US.pdf
- Smith, E. F., Gilmer, D. O., & Stockdale, M. S. (2019). The importance of culture and support for workplace flexibility: An ecological framework for understanding flexibility support structures. *Business Horizons*, 62(5), 557-566.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2019.04.002
- Snelgrove, S. R. (2014). Conducting qualitative longitudinal research using interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(1), 20-25. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.1.20.e1277
- Soo, J. H., Chae, C., Macko, P., Park, W., & Beyerlein, M. (2017). How vitual team leaders cope with creativity challenges. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 41, 261-276. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-10-2016-0073
- Spilker, M., Prinsen, F., & Kalz, M. (2020). Valuing technology-enhanced academic conferences for continuing professional development. A systematic literature review. *Professional Development in Education*, 46(3), 482-499.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2019.1629614
- Squires, A., & Dorsen, C. (2018). Qualitative research in nursing and health professions regulation. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 9(3), 15-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2155-8256(18)30150-9

- Stanak, M. (2019). Professional ethics: The case of neonatology. *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy*, 22, 231-238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-018-9863-9
- Stanton, R., T, Q. G., Khalesi, S., Williams, S. L., Alley, S. J., Thwaite, T. L., Fenning,
 A. S., & Vandelanotte, C. (2020). Depression, anxiety and stress during COVID19: Associations with changes in physical activity, sleep, tobacco and alcohol use in Australian adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(11), 4065. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17114065
- Stewart, G. L., & Brown, K. G. (2019). *Human resource management*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley.
- Stoyanova, T., & Iliev, I. (2017). Employee engagement factor for organizational excellence. *International Journal of Business and Economic Sciences Applied Research* 10(1), 23-29. http://hdl.handle.net/10419/185656
- Suifan, T. S., Abdallah, A. B., & Al Janini, M. (2018). The impact of transformational leadership on employees' creativity: The mediating role of perceived organizational support. *Management Research Review*, 41(1), 113-132. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-02-2017-0032
- Sumbal, M. S., Tsui, E., Durst, S., Shujahat, M., Irfan, I., & Ali, S. M. (2020). A framework to retain the knowledge of departing knowledge workers in the manufacturing industry. *VINE Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems*, 50(4), 631-651.

https://doi.org/10.1108/VJIKMS-06-2019-0086

Sun, R., & Wang, W. (2017). Transformational leadership, employee turnover intention,

- and actual voluntary turnover in public organizations. *Public Management Review*, *19*(8), 1124-1141. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2016.1257063
- Suseno, Y., & Pinnington, A. H. (2017). The war for talent: Human capital challenges for professional service firms. *Asia Pacific Business Review*, 23, 205-229. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602381.2017.1287830
- Susomrith, P., & Amankwaa, A. (2019). Relationship between job embeddedness and innovative work behaviour. *Management Decision*, 58(5), 864-878. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-11-2018-1232
- Syahreza, D. S., Lumbanraja, P., Dalimunthe, R. F., & Absah, Y. (2017). Compensation, employee performance, and mediating role of retention: A study of differential semantic scales. *European Research Studies*, 20(4A), 151-159. http://www.ersj.eu
- Syamsudirman, S., Yurmain, H., & Heryanto, H. (2019). Compensation and work culture on organizational performance within mediation by work satisfaction in fire department service of Sungai Penuh City. *Archives of Business Research*, 7(2), 228-244. https://doi.org/10.14738/abr.72.6146
- Taherdoost, H. (2016). Validity and reliability of the research instrument; How to test the validation of a questionnaire/survey in research. *International Journal of Academic Research in Management (IJARM*, 5(3), 28-36.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2018.1427793
- Tarvid, A. (2015). Job satisfaction determinants of tertiary graduates in Europe. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 24(1), 682-690. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00674-7

- Templeton, R. (2016). Doctorate motivation: An (auto)ethnography. *Australian Universities' Review*, 58(1), 38-44. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1091203
- Tews, M. J., & Stafford, K. (2020). The impact of abusive supervision and constituent attachment on entry-level employee turnover. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Research*, 44(8), 1318-1334. https://doi.org/10.1177/1096348020947139
- Tews, M. J., Michel, J. W., & Noe, R. A. (2017). Does fun promote learning? The relationship between fun in the workplace and informal learning. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 98, 46-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2016.09.006
- Thibault, L. A., Schweyer, A., & Whillans, A. (2017). Winning the war for talent:

 Modern motivational methods for attracting and retaining employees.

 Compensation & Benefits Review, 49(4), 230-246.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0886368718808152
- Thurairajah, K. (2019). Uncloaking the researcher: Boundaries in qualitative research.

 **Qualitative Sociology Review, 15 (1), 132-147.

 https://doi.org/10.18778/1733-8077.15.1.06
- Tian, Q., & Robertson, J. L. (2019). How and when does perceived CSR affects employees engagement in voluntary pro-environmental behavior? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 155(2), 399-412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3497-3
- Toropova, A., Myrberg, E., & Johansson, S. (2021). Teacher job satisfaction: The importance of school working conditions and teacher characteristics. *Educational Review*, 73(1), 71-97. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2019.1705247
- Tran, V. T., Porcher, R., Tran, V. C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in

qualitative surveys with mathematical models from ecological research. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 82, 71-78.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001

- Tu, M. (2018). An exploratory study of Internet of Things (IoT) adoption intention in logistics and supply chain management. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 29(1), 131-151. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-11-2016-0274
- Tung, F. C. (2016). Does transformational, ambidextrous, transactional leadership promote employee creativity? Mediating effects of empowerment and promotion focus. *International Journal of Manpower*, *37*(8), 1250-1263. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-09-2014-0177
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020). Table 16. Annual total separations rates by industry and region, not seasonally adjusted.
 https://www.bls.gov/news.release/jolts.t16.htm
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2018). *Additional resources at census*. https://www.census.gov/construction/nrs/index.html
- Vaismoradi, M., & Snelgrove, S. (2019). Theme in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(3), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376
- Valdenebro, E., Dietrich, U., & Ino, A. (2019). Thermal comfort analysis of a representative multi-story social housing unit with wood as an alternative construction material in Brazil. *In IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 297(1), 1-11.

https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/297/1/012019

- Van, H. T. M., & Nafukho, F. M. (2019). Employee engagement antecedents and consequences in Vietnamese businesses. European Journal of Training and Development, 44(3), 89-103. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-03-2019-0036
- Vardaman, J. M., Rogers, B. L., & Marler, L. E. (2020). Retaining nurses in a changing health care environment: The role of job embeddedness and self-efficacy. *Health Care Management Review*, 45(1), 52-59. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.00000000000000202
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: problematizing thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation, and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40-50.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124
- Vindrola-Padros, C., & Johnson, G. A. (2020). Rapid techniques in qualitative research:

 A critical review of the literature. *Qualitative Health Research*, 30(10), 15961604. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732320921835
- Virgiawan, A. R., Riyanto, S., & Endri, E. (2021). Organizational culture as a mediator motivation and transformational leadership on employee performance. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 10(3), 67-67.
 https://doi.org/10.36941/ajis-2021-0065
- Vorina, A., Simonič, M., & Vlasova, M. (2017). An analysis of the relationship between job satisfaction and employee engagement. *Economic Themes*, *55*(2), 243-262. https://doi.org/10.1515/ethemes-2017-0014

- Waller, L. (2020). Fostering a sense of belonging in the workplace: Enhancing well-being and a positive and coherent sense of self. *The Palgrave Handbook of Workplace Well-Being*, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-02470-3_83-1
- Wan, Q., Li, Z., Zhou, W., & Shang, S. (2018). Effects of the work environment and job characteristics on the turnover intention of experienced nurses: The mediating role of work engagement. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(6), 1332-1341. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13528
- Wang, C., Xu, J., Zhang, T. C., & Li, Q. M. (2020). Effects of professional identity on turnover intention in China's hotel employees: The mediating role of employee engagement and job satisfaction. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism*Management, 45, 10-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.07.002
- Watson, B., Robinson, D. H., Harker, L., & Arriola, K. R. J. (2016). The inclusion of African American study participants in web-based research studies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(6), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5486
- Webster, B. D., & Smith, M. B. (2019). The dark triad and organizational citizenship behaviors: The moderating role of high involvement management climate.

 Journal of Business and Psychology, 34(5), 621-635.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-9562-9
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, *15*(1), 45-55. http://www.imrjournal.org/
- Williamson, M. K., & Perumal, K. (2021). Exploring the consequences of person-

- environment misfit in the workplace: A qualitative study. *South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 47(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v47i0.1798
- Wilson, P. A., Valera, P., Martos, A. J., Wittlin, N. M., Muñoz-Laboy, M. A., & Parker,
 R. G. (2016). Contributions of qualitative research in informing HIV/AIDS
 interventions targeting black MSM in the United States. *Journal of Sex Research*,
 53(6), 642-654. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2015.1016139
- Wong, S. I., & Giessner, S. R. (2018). The thin line between empowering and laissez-faire leadership: An expectancy-match perspective. *Journal of Management*, 44(2), 757-783. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315574597
- Wu, C. M., & Chen, T. J. (2018). Collective psychological capital: Linking shared leadership, organizational commitment, and creativity. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 74, 75-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.02.003
- Wu, W., Rafiq, M., & Chin, T. (2017). Employee well-being and turnover intention.
 Career Development International, 22(7), 797-815.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-04-2017-0072
- Xiong, R., & Wen, Y. (2020). Employees turnover intention and behavioral outcomes:

 The role of work engagement. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 48(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.8609
- Xu, X., Wang, Y., & Tao, L. (2019). Comprehensive evaluation of sustainable development of regional construction industry in China. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 211(1), 1078-1087. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.11.248
- Yadav, U. N., Lloyd, J., Baral, K. P., Bhatta, N., Mehata, S., & Harris, M. (2021).

Evaluating the feasibility and acceptability of a co-design approach to developing an integrated model of care for people with multi-morbid COPD in rural Nepal: a qualitative study. *BMJ Open*, *11*(1), 045175-045192.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045175

- Yamin, M. (2020). Examining the role of transformational leadership and entrepreneurial orientation on employee retention with moderating role of competitive advantage.

 Management Science Letters, 10(2), 313-326.

 https://doi.org10.5267/j.msl.2019.8.039
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700-2713. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7
- Yildiz, S. M. (2018). An empirical analysis of the leader-member exchange and employee turnover intentions mediated by mobbing: Evidence from sport organizations. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 31(1), 480-497. https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2018.1432374
- Yin, R. K. (2019). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Young, J. W., Locke, J. C., & Elowitz, M. B. (2013). Rate of environmental change determines stress response specificity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(10), 4140-4145. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1213060110
- Yu, H., Abdullah, A., & Saat, R. M. (2014). Overcoming time and ethical constraints in

- the qualitative data collection process: A case of information literacy research. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 46(3), 243-257.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000614526610
- Yumnam, T., & Singh, E. N. (2019). Employee retention in private life insurance companies: An empirical study in Manipur. *Journal of Strategic Human Resource Management*, 8(2), 31-42. https://publishingindia.com/jshrm
- Yusliza, M. Y., Noor Faezah, J., Ali, N., Mohamad Noor, N. M., Ramayah, T., Tanveer,
 M. I., & Fawehinmi, O. (2020). Effects of supportive work environment on
 employee retention: the mediating role of person–organization fit. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 53(3), 201-216. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-12-2019-0111
- Zeffane, R., Zeffane, R., Bani Melhem, S. J., & Bani Melhem, S. J. (2017). Trust, job satisfaction, perceived organizational performance and turnover intention: a public-private sector comparison in the United Arab Emirates. *Employee**Relations, 39(7), 1148-1167. https://doi.org/10.1108/er-06-2017-0135
- Zhang, I. D., Lam, L. W., Dong, L., & Zhu, J. N. (2020). Can job-embedded employees

 Be satisfied? The role of job crafting and goal-striving orientations. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-020-09684-6
- Zhang, Y. (2016). A Review of employee turnover influence factor and countermeasure.

 **Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies, 4(2),85-91.

 https://doi.org/10.4236/jhrss.2016.42010
- Zimmerman, R. D., Swider, B. W., & Arthur, J. B. (2020). Does turnover destination matter? Differentiating antecedents of occupational change versus organizational

change. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 121(1), 103470-103483.

 $\underline{https:/\!/doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103470}$

Appendix A: Interview Questions

- 1. How did you develop your strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover?
- 2. What strategies have been the most effective in reducing voluntary employee turnover?
- 3. What strategies have been the least effective in reducing voluntary employee turnover?
- 4. How did your organization address the key challenges encountered with implementing strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover?
- 5. How did your employees respond to your strategies to reduce voluntary employee turnover?
- 6. What additional information would you like to share regarding the strategies you use to reduce voluntary employee turnover?

.

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

- 1. I will contact participants by email or phone to ensure they participate in the study.
- 2. I will contact participants by email or phone to set the time and place of the interviews.
- 3. I will recap the purpose of the study, answer any questions, and provide the consent form to be signed.
- 4. I will record the interview with an audio recorder.
- 5. I will transcribe the interview (Verbatim).
- 6. I will create a summary of each interview and provide it to the participants to confirm the accuracy.